Ithaca College

Digital Commons @ IC

Ithaca College Theses

2020

Individuals with Substance Use Disorders: Lived Experiences, Perceptions of Daily Life, and Behavioral Health Services

Roshni Patel

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.ithaca.edu/ic_theses



Part of the Occupational Therapy Commons

Individuals with Substance Use Disorders: Lived Experiences, Perceptions of Daily Life, and Behavioral Health Services

A Master's Thesis Presented to the Thesis of the Graduate Program in Occupational Therapy Ithaca College

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

By Roshni Patel December 2020

Abstract

There are macro and micro level impacts associated with substance use disorders ranging from significant spending by the United States government at a societal level, to changes in neuroanatomical structures and body functions, as well as psychosocial and functional impacts for the individual. While occupational therapy practitioners are approved behavioral health service providers research indicates there is a lack of understanding regarding the need for and role of occupational therapy for individuals with substance use disorders. This study utilized a phenomenological qualitative design to learn about the lived experiences, as well as the perceptions of daily life and current behavioral health services, of individuals with substance use disorders. Semi-structured interviews were conducted with five participants, recruited through convenience sampling. Results showed participants' lived experiences included a pervasive cycle of drug and/or alcohol use, chronic emotional distress, and varying motivators for sobriety. Participants' daily lives included occupying time with meaningful activity, giving up control, and meeting expectations by fulfilling roles and responsibilities. Most participants lived in the moment and presented with difficulty establishing long-term goals. While participants felt their current behavioral health services were meeting their immediate needs, they expressed a desire for individuality and trust from counselors. Based on these findings, occupational therapy's role may be the provision of client-centered services focusing on long term health and wellness, adaptive habits and use of time, and facilitating planning and achievement of long-term occupational goals in order to foster enhanced success in maintaining sobriety.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my thesis advisor Dr. Shannon L. Scott and my committee member Dr. Michelle Bradshaw for their support, guidance, and involvement in the creation of this research. I would like to thank my family and friends, specifically the PELs, for their ongoing encouragement throughout this entire process. A special thank you to the administrators, counselors, and participants involved in this study for carving out time to support student research. I value and appreciate all of these individuals without whom this study would not have been possible.

Dedication

This study is dedicated to those individuals living with substance use disorders. I hope the information presented may help support ongoing research to help better serve this community.

Table of Contents

| Chapter 1: Introduction | 1 |
|---|----|
| Legislative Action | 4 |
| Substance Use Disorders Interventions | 5 |
| Significance to Occupational Therapy | 7 |
| Purpose Statement | 10 |
| Research Questions | 11 |
| Definitions of Terms | 11 |
| Delimitations and Limitations | 15 |
| Chapter 2: Literature Review | 16 |
| Impact of Substance Use Disorders on Body Functions | 16 |
| Impact on Occupational Performance | 19 |
| Addiction as an Occupation | 20 |
| Traditional Treatment for Substance Use Disorders | 21 |
| Occupational Therapy and Substance Use Disorders | 23 |
| Gaps in Literature | 26 |
| Chapter 3: Methods | 28 |
| Research Design | 28 |
| Researcher Description and Researcher-Participant Relationships | 29 |
| Participant Recruitment | 29 |
| Inclusion Criteria | 30 |
| Data Collection and Recording Data Transformation | 30 |
| Analysis | 31 |
| Chapter 4: Results | 32 |
| Lived Experiences | 32 |
| Perceptions of Daily Life | 35 |
| Perceptions of Current Behavioral Health Services | 40 |
| Chapter 5: Discussion | 42 |
| Lived Experiences | 42 |
| Perceptions of Daily Life | 43 |
| Perceptions of Current Behavioral Health Services | 45 |
| Model of Human Occupation | 46 |
| Transtheoretical Model (Stages of Change) | 48 |
| Implications for Occupational Therapy | 48 |
| Study Limitations | 50 |

| Chapter 6: Summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations | 52 |
|--|----|
| Conclusions of the Current Study | 53 |
| Recommendations for Future Research | 54 |
| References | 55 |
| Table 1: Participant Characteristics | 66 |
| Appendix A: Interview Questions | 67 |
| Appendix B: IRB Approval Letter | 69 |
| Appendix C: Site Approval Letter | 70 |
| Appendix D: Email/Phone Recruitment Statements | 71 |
| Appendix E: Informed Consent | 73 |

Chapter 1: Introduction

In 2018, over 20 million individuals were impacted by a substance related disorder (National Center for Drug Abuse Statistics, 2019). Substance related disorder is an umbrella term used to describe the use of 10 classes of drugs including, but not limited to alcohol, opioids, and cocaine. This category of diagnoses is sub-divided into substance induced disorders and substance use disorders (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 2013). Substance-induced disorders include intoxication, withdrawal, and substance-induced mental disorders (APA, 2013), while substance use disorders apply to all 10 classes of drugs and typically feature brain alterations due to persistent use (APA, 2013). The more severe presentation of substance use disorders is addiction (APA, 2013).

In 2019, 14 million individuals were diagnosed with an alcohol use disorder and approximately two million individuals were diagnosed with an opioid use disorder (National Center for Drug Abuse Statistics, 2019). Overall, substance use disorders resulted in thousands of deaths per year, with over 88,000 deaths from alcohol related causes and 70,000 deaths from drug overdose (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism ([NIAAA], 2020; National Institute on Drug Abuse [NIDA] 2020a; U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2019).

Societal and the Individual Implications

Economically, addiction to nicotine, alcohol, and illicit drugs may result in upwards of 740 billion dollars spent in the United States (US) related to lost productivity, healthcare costs, and crimes (NIDA, 2020b). The US government allocated 3.8 billion dollars towards substance misuse and co-occurring mental health disorders for the 2019 fiscal year (USASpending.gov, 2019). Future expenditures expected for substance misuse treatment in the year 2020 are expected to increase to 42.1 billion dollars (Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration [SAMHSA], 2014). A large majority of the burden of these costs will be placed on private and public payers. Spending on substance use disorders from public sources, including Medicare,

Medicaid, and other federal or state dollars, is anticipated to account for 71% of the total potential 42.1 billion dollars spent annually (SAMHSA, 2014).

High prevalence of use, death, and significant expenditures by the US government signify the importance of addressing substance use disorders on a macro-level. On a micro-level, the individual is significantly impacted by substance use disorders with noted physiological, behavioral, and cognitive impairments (APA, 2013) and long-lasting brain changes (NIDA, 2018a). Substance addiction may make it difficult for individuals to engage in daily activities and fulfill life roles resulting in lost employment, homelessness, and troubled relationships (APA, 2013; Gutman, 2006). Lander, Howsare, & Byrne (2013) stated that children who are addicted to substances may experience differing levels of support from family members influencing their relationship with the substance and their family. Certain individuals also may have a predisposition to substance addiction.

Early neurobiological evidence shows men, whose biological parents are alcoholics, are likely to have a 50% chance of developing addiction to alcohol and are shown to have less sensitivity to alcohol (Cami & Farre, 2003; Gutman, 2006). Further, genetic predispositions such as increased levels of acetaldehyde lead to a decreased likelihood of alcohol misuse (Cami & Farre, 2003); whereas specific gene polymorphisms led to an increased likelihood of alcohol use (Gutman, 2006). A single polymorphism of a specific gene coding opioid receptors was associated with higher chances of heroin use and a specific gene for a dopamine receptor was related to increased chances of developing nicotine, alcohol, opiate, and polysubstance abuse (Cami & Farre, 2003; Gutman, 2006).

Early evidence also states, in addition to genetic predispositions, environmental risk factors may lead to increased chances of substance addiction. NIDA (2003) stated that risk factors for developing substance addiction in children include exposure to aggressive behavior, peer pressure, increased drug availability in the child's environment, and a lack of parental supervision in the home. In more recent research, risk factors contributing to substance use during

adolescence may be related to the significant cognitive development that occurs during this period of life which makes adolescents more vulnerable to stress and risk seeking behaviors (Whitesell, Bachand, Peel, & Brown, 2013). In addition to brain development, adolescents experiencing phenomenon such as strained parent-child relationships; emotional, physical, and sexual abuse; bullying; and peer pressure, are at higher risks for engaging in and developing abuse of substances. Evidence shows increased use of illicit drugs in individuals with a history of physical and sexual abuse (Whitesell et al., 2013).

Pre-existence of mental illness may also impact substance addiction. Early evidence stated certain personality traits like risk taking behavior may increase the likelihood of using addictive drugs (Cami & Farre, 2003). Mental illness such as schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, depression, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD) are related to increased risk of abuse (Cami & Farre, 2003; Whitesell et al., 2013). Research demonstrates a correlation between a diagnosis of ADHD and increased risk of alcohol and nicotine misuse amongst adolescents; adolescents with ADHD are almost three times more likely to develop a substance use disorder (Whitesell et al., 2013).

Physical and psychological effects including but not limited to; distorted vision and hearing; impaired coordination and judgement; changes to the sleep/wake cycle, heart rate, blood pressure, and breathing; and manifestation of violent behaviors may be adverse effects of substance use (NIDA, 2020c). Substance addiction is also associated with medical complications including liver cirrhosis, cancer, and dementia. Early neurobiological evidence states stimulant use (such as cocaine) can lead to cardiac arrhythmias and stroke (Gutman, 2006). On a more anatomical level, prolonged use of drugs and alcohol may result in neuroanatomical and neurobiological changes (Whitesell et al., 2013) and older research explains these changes in great depth. Substance use at an early age may lead to increased dopamine levels which may impact the function of the brains reward system associated with pleasurable behaviors such as eating, drinking, and sex (Cami & Farre, 2003). Prolonged use of substances lowers perceived

pleasure by the reward system, leaving individuals with increased cravings and increased levels of substance use in order to feel the desired effects. This may lead to increased tolerance levels and escalated drug and/or alcohol use. Additionally, periods of abstinence from the substance may increase sensitivity to the substance; if an individual were to reuse, it may cause heightened pleasure and lead to relapse (Cami & Farre, 2003; Gutman, 2006). Structural changes like the strength and size of dopamine neurons' dendrites and soma are decreased with opioid use. Conversely, repetitive use of stimulants like cocaine increases dendritic branches of neurons in the prefrontal cortex (Cami & Farre, 2003). As a result of these synaptic changes in the brain, changes in cognition and motor control may also occur (Cami & Farre, 2003; Cunha, Nicastri, Guerra de Andrade, & Bolla, 2010).

Legislative Action

According to Abraham and colleagues (2017), the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA) of 2010 increased access to services for substance use disorders in several ways. The ACA expanded insurance coverage to a greater number of people, including expansions to Medicaid and regulated insurance programs, while also ensuring that existing insurance plans covered screening and intervention services for substance use disorders. The ACA built upon the Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act (MHPAEA) of 2008 and extended benefits for substance use disorders, considered to be equitable to coverage for medical and surgical procedures, to individual health insurance plans in addition to group based coverage (Abraham et al., 2017). The expansion of ACA's coverage aimed to create more community integration programs for individuals with substance use disorders and provide state level opportunities to tackle the needs associated with the growing opioid epidemic (Abraham et al., 2017). The opioid epidemic is a current public health crisis stemming from increased prescription of opioid pain medication leading to misuse and addiction (U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, 2019; Rowe & Breeden, 2018). After the establishment of the ACA, the Comprehensive Addiction and Recovery Act (CARA) of 2016 granted over 180 million dollars per year towards

the opioid epidemic response (SAMHSA, 2020a). Most recently, the Substance Use-Disorder Prevention that Promotes Opioid Recovery and Treatment (SUPPORT) for Patients and Communities Act, passed in 2018, aimed to strengthen behavioral health services to combat the national opioid epidemic (SAMHSA, 2020a).

Substance Use Disorder Interventions

Treatment models. Several models exist to help explain substance addiction and inform or guide treatment ranging from the moral model, which places an onus of addiction on the individual, to the medical/disease model, which suggests that the individual has no control over addiction as it is genetically based and progressive in nature (Skewes & Gonzalez, 2013). A limitation of the moral model is that it does not consider genetic predispositions, while a limitation of the medical/disease model is that it does not account for those individuals who demonstrate recovery from their addiction. The biopsychosocial model was created as a holistic understanding of addiction. In this model, addiction is the result of the interaction between multiple factors including genetics, psychology, cognition, environment, and culture. Therefore, treatment for addiction should address all of these factors (Skewes & Gonzalez, 2013).

More contemporary models include the Recovery Model and the Transtheoretical Model. The Recovery Model boasts self-management and puts the individual's health in their own hands (Duckworth, 2015; SAMHSA, 2019). This model is not symptom and deficit focused, but rather focused on achieving the individual's goals (Duckworth, 2015). Therefore, an individual may choose to address areas of self-care, home care, and community involvement while still living with addiction (Duckworth, 2015). Lastly, the Transtheoretical Model, a long-standing public health model commonly utilized by social and behavioral sciences to make sense of behavioral changes, presumes that change may occur in a cyclical pattern (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). In order to foster habitual adaptive behaviors individuals must demonstrate intention towards change as well as require adequate self-efficacy skills to maintain change (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). This model is a process rather than a theoretical lens, where individuals go

through stages during their attempt to create change (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). The process is dynamic, and the individual may exit or re-enter at any stage, as well as demonstrate regression (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). In this process, the individual is the most important participant determining their own goals for change, while the provider utilizes active involvement, support, and expertise on how to facilitate change (Prochaska & Di Clemente, 1982). More current sources state that this model consists of specific stages which individuals transition through as they pursue changes in behavior and include precontemplation, contemplation, preparation, action, maintenance, and termination (LaMorte, 2019; Velicer, et al., 2000). The individual typically begins with inaction (pre-contemplation), moves to thinking about a change (contemplation), prepares themselves to make a change (preparation), actively makes modifications to their lifestyle (action), and then attempts to maintain the change (maintenance) (LaMorte, 2019, Velicer, et al., 2000). Termination is the complete cessation of the unwanted behavior (LaMorte, 2019, Velicer, et al., 2000).

Abstinence vs. harm reduction approaches. Treatment for substance use may focus on abstinence which is considered to be a period of time ranging from weeks to years within a person's lifetime of no drug or alcohol use (Mignon, 2015). Therefore, abstinence involves cessation. The 12-Step approach, commonly utilized by social workers and behavioral health professionals, promotes abstinence through a group-based program where individuals begin with an acceptance of addiction as a disease and aspire for spiritual and personal growth (Donovan, Ingalsbe, Benbow, & Daley, 2013). Twelve-step programs are noted to increase peer relationships amongst individuals who are abstinent. Twelve-step programs can be an adjunct to, continuing care from, or a form of ongoing community support with traditional substance use treatment (Donavan et al., 2013). Conversely, treatment may focus on harm-reduction to reduce substance use and related negative secondary consequences to the individual (Mignon, 2015). Components of harm reduction may include methadone treatment services for opioid addiction and needle exchange programs (Mignon, 2015). These programs are believed to decrease drug use, increase

participation in psychotherapy, and assist individuals to return to productive functioning (Mignon, 2015). As this approach focuses on reduction rather than cessation of use, the harm-reduction approach allows treatment providers to support individuals in their recovery process without stigmatization, while also increasing the individuals' motivation to engage in treatment (Mignon, 2015).

Treatment settings and services. Settings for substance use disorders may include residential, inpatient, or outpatient programs (NIDA, 2019). Outpatient programs may include group and/or individual counseling sessions and varying forms of therapy such as: cognitive behavioral therapy, family therapy, motivational interviewing, and/or motivational incentives such as positive reinforcement to encourage abstinence (NIDA, 2019). Inpatient and residential programs are geared for higher need individuals, providing increased structure and care (NIDA, 2019). Additionally, residential programs may include recovery housing which is developed to create smooth transitions for individuals moving from inpatient and other forms of residential services to being active and independent members of the community (NIDA, 2019).

Behavioral health services are specific treatment services that combine psychotherapy and medication to alter thoughts, behaviors, emotions, and how individuals perceive situations (SAMHSA, 2020b). The medication provided is for symptom relief so that individuals may utilize learned therapeutic strategies towards recovery (SAMHSA, 2020b). It is assumed that the combination of these two treatment approaches is the most effective for addressing substance use disorders (SAMHSA, 2020b). Behavioral health services aim to increase life skills and develop coping skills to address stressful and trigger inducing situations (NIDA, 2018b). An example of a behavioral health intervention is cognitive behavioral therapy, which is a psychological treatment focused on changing thought and behavior patterns (American Psychological Association, 2020).

Significance to Occupational Therapy

As previously described, substance use disorders may impact an individual's physical, mental, and social well-being as a result of neurobiological changes to the brain, increased risk of

mental health disorders, and impaired community participation. Individuals challenged by substance use disorders may present with difficulties participating in daily activities such as homecare, education, and work (Mignon, 2015; NIDA, 2020c). Achieving optimal health, wellbeing, and participation in life activities is within the domain of occupational therapy according to the American Occupational Therapy Association (AOTA) Occupational Therapy Practice Framework: Domain & Process 4th Edition (OTPF-4) (2020a). Some of the occupations or daily activities that fall within the scope of occupational therapy practice are (1) activities of daily living like dressing, bathing, and feeding, (2) instrumental activities of daily living like childcare, driving, community mobility, financial management, and home management, (3) health management, (4) work, and (5) education (AOTA, 2020a). According to AOTA (2020b), occupational therapy addresses individuals' needs and desires to participate in occupations or meaningful activities by utilizing a holistic, health promotion approach (AOTA, 2020a; AOTA, 2020b).

Further, NIDA (2018b) stated substance related treatment should aim to assist individuals in returning to a prior level of function with family, work, and community engagement. This directly aligns within the scope of occupational therapy practice (AOTA, 2014) and leaders in the occupational therapy profession have advocated for a role for occupational therapy services within behavioral health settings (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Stoffel, 2013). Stoffel (2013) issued a call for action encouraging occupational therapy practitioners to explore this emerging area of practice and consider working with individuals with substance use disorders in behavioral health settings. In 2015, occupational therapy practitioners were recognized as key community behavioral health providers and were included on the list of staff for newly developed community behavioral health centers (AOTA, 2015).

In addition to advocacy, occupational therapy research related to addiction and substance use has been growing to include studies exploring individuals' physical and cognitive health (Martin, Smith, Rogers, Wallen, & Boisvert, 2011; Rojo-Mota, Pedrero-Perez, Ruiz-Sanchez De

Leon, & Miangolarra Page, 2014; Sanchez-Camarero et al., 2019; Wasmuth et al., 2015), sensory function (Bar-Shalita, Asayag, Bonneh, & Parush, 2019), occupational participation (Davies & Cameron, 2010; Cruz, 2019; Wasmuth, Pritchard, & Kaneshiro, 2016a), and occupational identities (Martin et al., 2011). Occupational therapy researchers have also explored addiction as an occupation itself (Wasmuth, Crabtree, & Scott, 2014; Wasmuth, et al., 2016b) and have developed measures and protocols (Dietz & Schriber, 2017; Martin et al., 2015) to assist with working with this population.

Occupational therapy practitioners have utilized long-standing occupation-based models to guide research on this topic such as the Model of the Human Occupation (MOHO) by Kielhofner and Posatery Burke (1980). MOHO can be utilized to help understand individuals' behaviors in response to particular phenomena in their occupational lives (Kielhofner, 2008; Kielhofner & Posatery Burke, 1980). Assumptions of the model are that individuals are dynamic open systems, and their ability to participate in occupation is interdependent on factors related to an individual's volition, habituation, performance capacity and the environment (Kielhofner, 2008). MOHO appears frequently within occupational therapy literature related to substance use disorders as a prime theoretical lens that guides both research design and data analysis (Davies & Cameron, 2010; Dietz & Schriber, 2017; Martin, Bliven, & Boisvert, 2008). More recently, occupational therapy practitioners began to utilize the Transtheoretical Model to understand the lived experiences of individuals in recovery from substance use disorders (Sullivan, Macone, Lucey, & Erler, 2020).

Occupational therapy researchers have also focused on the opioid epidemic (Pivont & McCombie, 2020). Rowe and Breeden (2018) authored a continuing education article discussing opioid prescription guidelines for chronic pain management as well as the role for occupational therapy practitioners in addressing the opioid crisis. According to Rowe and Breeden (2018), occupational therapy practitioners are well equipped to work with individuals challenged by the opioid crisis through the use of preventative approaches, education on pain management and the

physiological impacts of prescription misuse, and exploration of self-management techniques for pain. However, a recent state survey of occupational therapy practitioners found that respondents felt they lacked the necessary training and education to address the opioid crisis (Pivont & McCombie, 2020).

Gaps in the literature existed despite a growing body of occupational therapy research focused on substance use disorders. Occupational therapy systematic reviews lacked consensus on the effectiveness of occupation-based interventions, clinical trial-based studies, and a definitive role for occupational therapy (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Rojo-Mota, Pedrero-Perez, & Huertas-Hoyas, 2017a; Wasmuth et al., 2016a). Additionally, there were only a handful of studies in which researchers utilized the first-hand client perspective to inform their work (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Rojo-Mota et al., 2017a; Wasmuth et al., 2016b).

Based on the limitations in existing research, the purpose of this study was to further explore the first-hand experiences of individuals who were challenged by substance use disorders and specifically those who were receiving behavioral health services. Results of this study were intended to expand the occupational therapy body of knowledge about individuals challenged by substance use disorders and to inform occupational therapy practice.

Purpose Statement

Substance use disorders have had a significant impact on both the individual challenged by the disease and on society as a whole. The societal costs associated with substance use continue to increase and the physiological, psychological, and cognitive implications for the individual contributing to loss of life roles and quality of life persist. Emerging occupational therapy research supports the profession's role in the provision of services for individuals challenged by substance use disorders, however, published research has been limited and inconclusive to date (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Rojo-Mota et al., 2017a; Wasmuth et al., 2016a). The purpose of this research was to learn more about the lived experiences of individuals with substance use disorders, their perceptions of daily life, and the behavioral health services they

received. Interviews were used to explore the human experience and learn more about the phenomena of substance addiction. Exploring perceptions of behavioral health services, daily life, the impact substance use may have had on individuals' lives, and any other information, may further inform the role of occupational therapy when working with individuals challenged by substance use disorders.

Research Ouestions

- 1. What are the lived experiences of individuals with substance use disorders who are receiving behavioral health services?
- 2. What are the perceptions of daily life of individuals with substance use disorders who are receiving behavioral health services?
- 3. What are the perceptions of the behavioral health services received by individuals with substance use disorders?

Definition of Terms

1. Substance related disorders is an overarching category of diagnoses within the

Diagnostic and Statistical Manual for Mental Disorders V [DSM V], that consists of 10

classes of drugs including but not limited to alcohol, opioids, and cocaine. Substance
related disorders are divided into two sub-categories: substance use disorders and
substance induced disorders (APA, 2013). This group of diagnoses are given to
individuals who demonstrate a pattern of using a substance leading to clinically
significant impairments cognitively, behaviorally, and physiologically (APA, 2013).
Specific criteria must be met in order for an individual to be diagnosed which includes
repetitive substance use leading to an inability to fulfill role obligations associated
with work, home, or school and cessation or reduction of social, occupational, and
recreation activities (APA, 2013). "The overall category of substance induced disorders
includes substance intoxication, withdrawal, and other substance-induced/medicationinduced mental disorders" (APA, 2013, p.485).

- 2. Substance use disorders are a subcategory of substance related disorders which includes all 10 classes of drugs. An individual is diagnosed with a substance use disorder when they continue to use a substance despite related problems (APA, 2013). Individuals diagnosed with substance use disorders experience cognitive, behavioral, and psychological symptoms (APA 2013). Substance use disorders feature brain alterations due to persistent drug use (APA, 2013). Within the DSM, substance use disorders are used to describe all levels of substance use including severe use such as addiction (APA, 2013). Substance use disorders are frequently addressed within occupational therapy and non-occupational therapy literature.
- 3. Addiction, in this study, refers to addiction to a substance such as alcohol or drugs. This study will utilize either substance addiction or addiction interchangeably. Older evidence states that addiction involves using substances in high amounts over a long period of time and is characterized by the inability to stop or reduce use and by spending a large amount of time on obtaining the substance (Gutman, 2006). This is supported by more recent sources such as NIDA who states, "addiction is defined as a chronic, relapsing disorder characterized by compulsive drug seeking, continued use despite harmful consequences, and long-lasting changes in the brain" (NIDA, 2018a, para. 1).
- 4. *Sobriety* will be defined as the "state of being sober" (Merriam-Webster, n.d.-a); while *sober* is defined as "not addicted to intoxicating drink" or "not drunk." (Merriam-Webster, n.d.-b)
- 5. *Substance dependence* also known as physical dependence refers to a state where the body naturally accommodates to the intake of a substance (NIDA, 2018a).
- 6. Substance misuse, also known as substance abuse, is incorrectly using a prescribed medication or inability to consume alcohol in moderation. (NIDA, 2018a). Substance misuse and substance abuse will be utilized interchangeably within this paper as sources inconsistently utilize both terms.

- 7. Behavioral health treatment services combine psychotherapy and medication to alter thoughts, behaviors, emotions, and how individuals perceive situations (SAMHSA, 2020b). Medications are used for symptom relief to support the use of learned therapies by individuals during recovery (SAMHSA, 2020b). Behavioral health treatment works to increase life skills, and develop coping skills to address stressful, and trigger inducing situations (NIDA, 2018b).
- 8. *Metacognition* is defined as "awareness of one's own learning and thinking processes." (Merriam-Webster, n.d.-c).
- 9. *Occupations* refers to everyday activities individuals find important to their daily life that provide purpose as outlined in the OTPF-4 (AOTA, 2020a). Everyday activities can include eating, showering, personal hygiene, care of others, financial management, meal preparation, sleep, education, work, play, leisure, and social participation, to name a few (AOTA, 2020a).
- 10. Occupational performance refers to an individual choosing to actively engage in activities they value as stated in earlier work by Nelson & Jepson-Thomas (2003). The OTPF-4 (AOTA, 2020a) provides a more updated definition to include the accomplishment of a meaningful activity. This study will follow the definition within the OTPF-4 (2020a).
- 11. *Role competence* is the effective fulfillment of the demands of individuals' roles (AOTA, 2020a).
- 12. Occupational deprivation is the lost ability to engage in meaningful occupations due to the lack of access or circumstances beyond an individual's control, such as racial, systemic, or legislative barriers, which may impact the individual's overall health (Occupational Therapy Australia, 2016; Reitz, 2014).
- 13. *The Model of Human Occupation* is an occupation-based model that can be used when working with individuals across the lifespan and has been shown to be effective when

working with individuals with chronic conditions (Kielhofner, 2008; Kielfhofner & Posatery Burke, 1980). Assumptions of the model are that individuals are dynamic open systems and their ability to participate in occupation is interdependent on factors related to an individual's volition, habituation, performance capacity and the environment (Kielhofner, 2008).

- a. Volition refers to an individual's motivation in choosing to do something (Kielhofner, 2008).
- b. Habituation refers to automatic behavior patterns that are informed by the individual's habits (repetitive actions) and internalized roles (performance of actions based on societal norms) (Kielhofner, 2008).
- c. *Occupational choices* are defined as intentional commitments to perform an action like acquiring a new habit (Kielhofner, 2008).
- d. Performance capacity refers to the ability to perform an action based on the individual's physical and mental abilities in addition to their own experiences (Kielhofner, 2008).
- e. *Environment* refers to the external environment and how it impacts an individual either to support, provide chances, create demand, or restrain actions or behaviors (Kielhofner, 2008).
- f. Occupational participation is defined in MOHO as an individual's engagement in meaningful activities (Kielhofner, 2008)
- g. Occupational competence is the level at which individuals are able to participate in meaningful activities (Kielhofner, 2008)
- h. *Occupational adaptation* is the ability of individuals to engage in meaningful occupations in changing circumstances as *occupational adaptation* (Kielfhofner, 2008; Forsyth et al., 2014).

Delimitations

This study was limited to recruitment from only two sites within a specific behavioral healthcare agency, both located in one geographical region, and the primary researcher was familiar with the agency from previous employment. This provided ease of access to individuals receiving behavioral health services, ease in disseminating study recruitment information to the population of interest, and ease in scheduling interviews with interested individuals.

Limitations

Several factors limited generalizability of the results of this to the greater public. The participant pool originated from one geographical location, one agency, and one clinical site. The experiences of the participants were unique as they may have shared counselors and attended the same group therapy program. Program policies, structure of the behavioral health program, individuals' socioeconomic status, and their access to substance related services, were factors not addressed by this study's methodology and may have impacted who was able to participate in this study. On-site recruitment was restricted due to confidentiality requirements and may have impacted adequate dissemination of recruitment information. The timing of interviews may have been a limiting factor as participants had scheduled transportation and interviews were completed back-to-back leaving little time for the researcher to reflect between participants. Further, interview questions may not have been worded in a way that enabled participants to fully reflect on the intent of the question being asked. Finally, certainty that participants met the inclusion criteria for this study is limited due to the recruitment process and inaccurate terminology used in the inclusion criteria and may be a limitation of this study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

The significant impact substance use disorders have on an individual's physiology, emotional processing, social participation, and occupational performance is widely accepted in the literature (Cami & Farre, 2003; Gutman, 2006; Whitesell et al., 2013). The following review summarizes both occupational therapy and non-occupational therapy literature pertaining to substance use disorders and focuses on the following topics: impact on body functions; impact on occupational performance; traditional treatment; and occupational therapy services.

Impact of Substance Use Disorders on Body Functions

According to some studies, prolonged use of addictive substances had negative impacts on specific mental functions like attention and initiation of tasks, and on global mental functions like impulse control. Other studies found sensory functions like pain response, and control of voluntary movement like fine motor skills were impacted due to substance addiction.

Specific mental functions. A quantitative study comparing executive functioning between individuals with dependence to cocaine and those without, utilized a novel neuropsychological assessment in conjunction with known assessments (Cunha et al., 2010). Participants were required to copy movement patterns and the results showed individuals with dependence exhibited lower performance in mental flexibility, conceptualization, and motor programming (Cunha et al., 2010). Similarly, executive functioning was found to be affected in polysubstance users (Hagen et al., 2016). Hagen and colleagues compared individuals with polysubstance misuse and those without by utilizing several measures to test executive function skills such as attention, inhibition, cognitive flexibility, long-term decision making, risk perception, initiation, planning, and organization (Hagen et al., 2016). Individuals with polysubstance use underperformed on the Stroop Test and the BRIEF assessment compared to the control group, suggesting impairments in executive functioning. The study also found that the BRIEF assessment was the most useful in evaluating executive functioning in individuals with substance use disorder (Hagen et al., 2016).

In a second study, researchers examined metacognition between three groups: substance use disorder, schizophrenia, and HIV positive (Wasmuth et al., 2015). Data were collected through semi-structured face to face interviews and measures that assessed self-reflection, understanding of others' thoughts, multiple perspective taking, and use of knowledge to address social and psychological predicaments. Individuals with substance use disorders were found to have decreased scores in comparison to the HIV group on 'metacognitive mastery,' defined as the ability to use metacognitive knowledge to address social or psychological predicaments. These findings suggested that individuals with substance use disorders may have had difficulties in the use of novel learned skills for problem solving (Wasmuth et al., 2015). Other researchers compared performance on the Assessment of Motor and Process Skills (AMPS) amongst individuals with varying demographic variables and severity of drug and/or alcohol addiction (Rojo-Mota et al., 2014). Researchers found that severity of addiction and length of substance misuse impacted motor and process skills which in turn negatively impacted performance of daily activities. These results demonstrated a high negative correlation between AMPS scores to severity of addiction and length of use. Further, 60% had suboptimal AMPS scores and 25% demonstrated significant decline particularly in cognitive performance skills. (Rojo-Mota et al., 2014). Finally, researchers explored the lived experiences of mothers in recovery from long-term substance addiction (Martin et al., 2011). Based on responses, participants were noted to utilize substances as coping mechanisms to escape everyday pressures such as financial, and relationship stress (Martin et al., 2011).

Global mental functions. In their qualitative study, Martin and colleagues explored the lived experiences of mothers in recovery from addiction, researchers found reduced performance capacity as a theme (Martin et al., 2011). That is, during active use, some participants expressed the need for increased amounts of substances to maintain energy and function so that physical withdrawal did not impede participation in activities. Other participants experienced physical

weakness in addition to poor concentration and judgement as a result of being high on a substance (Martin et al., 2011).

Temperament and personality. In the psychology literature, researchers found that impulsivity, exhibited in individuals with cocaine and opioid use, was dependent on whether individuals just used cocaine or whether they had dual use of cocaine and opiates. Those with dual use were more likely to show impulsivity than those solely using cocaine (Rodriguez-Cintas et al., 2016).

Sensory functions. Occupational therapy researchers in Israel explored sensory modulation disorders in individuals with substance use disorder (Bar-Shalita et al., 2019). Researchers compared a substance use disorder group with otherwise healthy individuals. All participants completed measures including sensory responsiveness scales and pain questionnaires, monofilament pin prick tests to assess pain, and a measure exploring averseness to sounds. Participants with a substance use disorder were identified as having a sensory modulation disorder and demonstrated increased averseness to sound however, there were no significant group differences on the monofilament pin prick test assessing pain. This study was novel within the occupational therapy literature in that the researchers assessed sensory based dysfunction stemming from substance use disorders (Bar-Shalita et al., 2019).

Control of voluntary movement. Occupational therapy researchers explored whether there were differences in manual dexterity and fine motor control between individuals with cocaine use and otherwise healthy individuals (Sanchez-Camarero et al., 2019). Researchers conducted observations in addition to administering the Purdue Pegboard Test and the Jebsen-Taylor Hand Function Test to both groups. Researchers found decreased fine motor and dexterity skills bilaterally in individuals with cocaine use in comparison to healthy individuals (Sanchez-Camarero et al., 2019).

Impact on Occupational Performance

In a psychology doctoral dissertation, Cavanaugh (2019) aimed to understand the lived experiences of individuals with substance misuse and comorbid homelessness. The study used semi-structured interviews with 23 male participants currently in recovery from substance misuse and homelessness. Key themes that emerged were participants valued making and maintaining connections for personal and professional growth, autonomy and ability to achieve goals, increased self-worth, and participation in community-based activities (Cavanaugh, 2019). Similar to autonomy, participants in a study by occupational therapy practitioners discussed the importance of self-maintenance (Davies & Cameron, 2010). The study used mixed methods, including semi-structured interviews and the use of the Occupational Self-Assessment measure, to understand the perceptions of those in inpatient detoxification settings on their occupational abilities and priorities for change. The study utilized the Model of Human Occupation (MOHO) as a guiding theoretical framework for their methodology and interpretation of data. Based on the results, individuals in inpatient detoxification wanted to further develop self-maintenance skills and improve their ability to manage self-care, finances, and their homes. Additionally, 41% of the participants in the study identified it was important for them to care for people for whom they are responsible (Davies & Cameron, 2010).

Value of caring for people whom individuals are responsible for was a similar theme in the study by Martin et al. (2011). In this study, themes revealed significant impacts on occupational performance and occupational identity (Martin et al., 2011). Participants expressed time spent using substances took away from essential occupations or impacted how well they performed their roles. Some mothers reported instances of endangering their children as a result of substance use. Others expressed guilt and remorse over their substance use because of the impact on their children. Finally, the role of the physical and social environment impacted substance use. Mothers described friendships with individuals challenged by addiction and

strained spousal relationships acted as both stressors and triggers for substance use (Martin et al., 2011).

In further support of the findings by Davies & Cameron (2010), Cruz (2019) conducted semi-structured interviews with individuals receiving substance use treatment and the results revealed themes associated with leisure exploration and social participation. Participants expressed the desire for adding activity to free time, as well as engaging with peers and others in sobriety meetings in order to abstain from using substances. Additional themes included work and education. Participants expressed interest in finding employment, returning to school, or establishing a meaningful career either during or after completion of their substance related program (Cruz, 2019).

Addiction as an Occupation

While some occupational therapy researchers explored the impact of addiction on occupational performance (Davies & Cameron, 2010; Cruz, 2019; Martin et al., 2011), others sought to understand addiction as an occupation itself (Wasmuth et al., 2014; Wasmuth et al., 2016b). Limited occupational therapy involvement in serving individuals challenged by addiction, high relapse rates, and low retention rates amongst individuals seeking substance related services, prompted researchers to view addiction as a potential occupation. Researchers believed that by viewing addiction as an occupation, it could uncover potential barriers in the recovery process and give meaning to the high relapse and low retention rates. In order to understand whether individuals with substance misuse disorders perceived their substance use as an important occupation in their daily lives, the researchers completed and analyzed semistructured interviews, developed from a MOHO perspective, with participants from an Alcoholics Anonymous group (Wasmuth et al., 2014). In this study, participants recognized that their addiction contributed to either feelings of social connectedness or isolation, and served as a means of self-expression and identity, coping, and occupation of time. The study also suggested that addiction became increasingly an occupation for those individuals who possessed little to no

alternative occupations. This resulted in individuals seeking purpose, social interaction, and meaning through their addiction (Wasmuth et al., 2014).

In another qualitative study, addiction as an occupation was further explored with veterans with substance use disorders (Wasmuth et al., 2016b). Findings supported those of Wasmuth et al. (2014) in that there was a social component to the initiation and continuation of substance use and self-identification with use. Additionally, participants found their addiction through socialization, and individuals spent more time using when they lacked alternative occupations (Wasmuth et al., 2016b).

Traditional Treatment for Substance Use Disorders

A common abstinence-based program, 12-step, utilized by social workers and behavioral health practitioners, was effective in supporting long-term abstinence and fostering peer support (Donovan et al., 2013). The study used self-report questionnaires in a longitudinal study of individuals receiving substance related treatment to investigate the benefits of 12-step programs (Costello et al., 2019). Twelve-step meetings were found to have effective short-term substance use outcomes with increased duration of abstinence associated with increased involvement in 12-step meetings (Costello et al., 2019).

Though there is some support for the effectiveness of abstinence-based programs (Costello et al., 2019), harm-reduction approaches utilizing motivational interviewing had mixed evidence. According to Agerwala and McCance-Katz (2012), the Screening, Brief Intervention and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT) approach is an evidence-based approach that utilizes motivational interviewing to reduce and prevent substance misuse and dependence. SBRIT was found to be effective in not only reducing costs, but also in decreasing frequency and severity of use, reducing trauma risk, and increasing engagement in substance related treatment (Agerwala & McCance-Katz, 2012). With increased use of this approach in medical settings across the United States, significant improvements in individuals' health, employment, and housing have been reported (Agerwala & McCance-Katz, 2012). However, a limitation of SBRIT, also supported by

SAMSHA (2011) is that most studies pertaining to SBRIT are based on alcohol use and not illicit drug use. Therefore, there is limited evidence to support the effectiveness of SBIRT in treating drug misuse. Additionally, the format of motivational interviewing seems to influence the effectiveness of the approach as well. In a systematic review by Jiang, Wu, & Gao (2017), evidence supported the use of motivational interviewing over the telephone as a strong alternative to individual face-to-face services in the prevention and treatment of substance abuse. The effectiveness of motivational interviewing utilized through text message, the internet, and in group sessions was found to be inconclusive and requires further research (Jiang, Wu, & Gao, 2017).

Abstinence and harm-reduction approaches to substance misuse treatment did not explore the benefits of finding alternate activities to sustain sobriety or reduce use. Twelve-step programs did encourage community engagement and spiritual connection (Donovan et al., 2013) but did not explore direct correlations between alternate activities and abstinence. Psychology based studies have demonstrated the effectiveness of treatment approaches related to finding alternative activities. In an earlier study by Correia, Benson, and Carey (2005), participants with reported alcohol or illicit drug use were divided into one of three groups: (1) substance reduction (2) activity increase (3) no change. The study measured participant alcohol or illicit drug use at baseline and after completion of the 28-day study and recorded the participants self-monitored progress towards their personal goals. Results showed participants had decreased substance use in the 'substance reduction' group and 'activity increase' group. Participants in the 'activity increase' group also demonstrated a decrease in the number of the days spent using a substance and an increase in engagement with exercise and creative activities. This study suggested the importance of finding and participating in non-substance related activities to help reduce substance use behavior (Correia, et al., 2005). In another randomized control trial by Daughters and colleagues (2017), individuals in residential treatment for substance addiction were divided into two groups: a typical treatment group (narcotics/alcohol anonymous groups, 12-step, and

relapse prevention programs) and the life enhancement treatment for substance use (LETS ACT) group. The LETS ACT group received a specialized and novel form of a substance treatment program, based on typical behavioral theories, where individuals were asked to schedule, engage, and record alternative substance-free behaviors or activities. Participants were followed pre- and post-treatment and results showed individuals in the LETS ACT group demonstrated increased abstinence post treatment (Daughters et al., 2017).

Occupational Therapy and Substance Use Disorders

The findings of Correia et al. (2005) and Daughters et al. (2017) are relevant to occupational therapy as they explore the importance of non-substance related activities in achieving and sustaining long term sobriety. Similarly, occupational therapy literature related to substance use disorders has explored the relevance of engaging in occupations. In a systematic review of the occupational therapy literature by Wasmuth, Pritchard, & Kaneshiro (2016a), several areas of occupation were found to be negatively impacted for those with substance use disorders to include work, education, activities of daily living, and instrumental activities of daily living, which were then used as the focus of intervention. Leisure activities and social participation activities, followed by work related programs, were the most commonly used intervention methods by occupational therapy practitioners. The study suggested that including occupation-based interventions could easily be integrated into the daily lives of those with addiction disorders thereby facilitating meaningful engagement in occupation and reducing symptoms of substance misuse (Wasmuth et al., 2016).

In an earlier study that explored occupation-based assessments with individuals challenged by substance use disorders, Martin, Bliven, & Boisvert (2008) hypothesized that including occupational therapy services within treatment programs for substance use disorders would result in increased occupational performance, self-esteem, and quality of life. Over the course of three years, as individuals entered a halfway house, researchers administered outcome measures to include the Occupational Performance History Inventory 2.0 (OPHI-II), the

Rosenberg Self-Esteem Scale (RSES), and Quality of Life Rating scale (QOLR), as well as a second OPHI-II prior to discharge. Of the 57 participants whose data was captured, pre-post test scores were higher on the RSES, QOLR, occupational identity, and competence. While the results did not indicate that occupational therapy services were the sole contributor to increased scores, the study suggested that it was possible that participants benefited from occupational therapy services addressing life skills (Martin et al., 2008).

In addition to the use of occupation-based approaches, the use of SBIRT as a therapeutic approach by occupational therapy practitioners was recently explored (Mitchell, Dillon, Hallber, LeBlanc, & Robnett, 2019). Researchers supported the use of the SBIRT in occupational therapy services for individuals with substance use across settings as it was cost-effective, promoted function, and the motivational interviewing component was effectively used to exchange substance use with health promoting occupations (Mitchell et al., 2019). While the use of SBIRT was supported as a valuable approach for use by occupational therapy practitioners, SBIRT does not directly explore occupational performance.

Occupational performance assessments used in occupational therapy have the potential to identify relevant areas that might not be otherwise identified in typical substance abuse programs. Martin et al. (2015) developed a tool called the Lifestyle History Questionnaire, a self-report measure for understanding the level of occupational dysfunction that may stem from substance misuse. "The instrument addresses the person (e.g., thoughts, feelings), the physical and social environment, and the cultural and temporal context, as well as patterns of behavior (tasks and occupational performance in context)" (Martin et al., 2015, p. 8). This measure was utilized with individuals receiving care for substance use disorders from two residential detoxification centers. The measure was found to be both reliable and valid after testing and may be useful in gathering information related to clients' occupational histories, performance patterns, strengths, weaknesses, and level of occupational dysfunction from substance misuse (Martin et al., 2015).

Other researchers explored the effectiveness of occupational therapy assessment tools to evaluate an individual's motor and cognitive function; determined by prior research as being negatively impacted by addiction (Cunha et al., 2010; Hagen et al., 2016; Wasmuth et al., 2015). Rojo-Mota, Pedrero-Perez, Heurtas-Hoyas, Merritt, & MacKenzie (2017b) found that the Allen's Cognitive Level Screen-5 (ACLS-5) was an effective assessment tool to assess functional cognition in individuals receiving outpatient addiction treatment in Spain. Rojo-Mota et al. (2014) found that the AMPS may also be a reliable tool to utilize in assessing motor and process skills for individuals with substance related disorder due to the high correlation of AMP scores and substance use severity. Rojo-Mota, Pedrero-Perez, Ruiz-Sanchez de Leon, Llanero-Luque, & Puerta Garcia (2013) also utilized the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) in conjunction with the ACLS-5 to determine cognitive functioning of individuals in treatment for substance addictions. Most participants demonstrated a low score on the MoCA in comparison to norms for the general population, those with mild cognitive impairment, and those with dementia. Researchers concluded that the MoCA was a useful cognitive screening tool to use with individuals with substance addiction and may be helpful to use as a basis for referral to neuropsychological and occupational therapy services (Rojo-Mota et al., 2013).

While some researchers explored the effectiveness of motor and cognitive assessment tools (Rojo-Mota et al., 2013; Rojo-Mota et al., 2014) others have explored the use of MOHO assessment tools (Davies & Cameron, 2010; Martin et al., 2008). However, there was little to support or refute the effectiveness of using MOHO as a theoretical framework for assessing and understanding substance use disorders. Recently, occupational therapy students at the University of North Dakota developed a comprehensive program outline using the MOHO as a guide, for use in outpatient behavioral health programs to bridge occupational therapy services with behavioral health services, despite a lack of research establishing its effectiveness (Dietz & Schriber, 2017).

Research supporting the potential effectiveness of occupation-based services for individuals with substance use disorders it is limited, and the overall evidence remains

inconclusive (Dietz & Schriber, 2017; Martin et al., 2008, 2015; Rojo-Mota et al., 2013; Rojo-Mota et al., 2014; Wasmuth et al., 2016a) A recent survey distributed to occupational therapy practitioners currently working in behavioral health settings and those serving in leadership roles in AOTA's Mental Health Special Interest Section revealed that practitioners believed there is still limited evidence to guide the occupational therapy process when working in behavioral health services (Hutchinson et al., 2019). Additionally, despite there being a potential role for occupational therapy in addressing substance use disorders, including opioid use some occupational therapy practitioners feel inadequately educated or trained to work with individuals with substance use disorders (Rowe & Breedan, 2018; Pivont & McCombie, 2020).

Gaps in Literature

Based on this review of the literature, it is apparent that there are multiple aspects of service related to substance use disorders are being explored by occupational therapy researchers, yet systematic reviews reveal inconclusive and limited findings. (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Rojo-Mota et al., 2017a; Wasmuth et al., 2016a). Despite the efforts of occupational therapy researchers to explore the effectiveness of occupation-based theory and assessments for individuals with substance use disorders, there remains limited scientific studies, specifically controlled clinical trials, combining occupation-based theory with direct assessment and intervention. Additionally, there is only low-level evidence to directly support the inclusion of occupational therapy services for treating addiction (Rojo-Mota et al., 2017a). Review of the literature revealed a significant gap in learning about and treating addiction from an occupation-based perspective (Rojo-Mota et al., 2017a).

There is also a lack of understanding as to whether or not there is a need for occupational therapy services within behavioral health settings for individuals with substance use disorders (Hutchinson et al., 2019). Subsequently, there is a press for continued research to create a body of evidence to support occupational therapy services in the behavioral health field (Hutchinson et al., 2019). In a recent study presented at a virtual conference, researchers surveyed and

interviewed individuals with substance use disorders to explore their perceptions of the benefits of including occupation-based services in substance use disorder treatment programs and the potential impact this would have on recovery and relapse prevention (Sullivan et al., 2020). Participants perceived that the benefits would include a positive impact on social support systems, mental health management, and physical health. Despite perceiving a benefit, all participants reported having never received occupational therapy services for substance use disorders (Sullivan et al., 2020).

This study attempted to address gaps in the literature by offering a first-hand perspective of individuals receiving behavioral health services for substance use disorders. A first-hand perspective sought to offer insight into the strengths and needs of individuals experiencing substance use disorders about their lived experiences, daily lives, and behavioral health services. The information from this study may help further inform the existing literature on the role of occupational therapy with individuals with substance use disorders.

Chapter 3: Methods

Research Design

This study was a qualitative phenomenological design informed by a constructivist paradigm which assumes that individuals live a reality that is relative to the experiences they have had individually and socially (Lincoln, Lynham, & Guba, 2011). These realities are self-created, and individuals may have their own realities distinct from others despite similar circumstances (Lincoln et al., 2011). Qualitative studies drawn on a constructivist paradigm focus on how individuals perceive the events that occur within their lives (Teherani, Martimianakis, Stenfors-Hayes, Wadhwa, & Varpio, 2015). Additionally, the phenomenological qualitative design was chosen as it allowed the researcher to focus on the phenomenon (Creswell, 2014) of substance use disorders. Only a handful of studies within the existing occupational therapy literature utilized a phenomenological approach to understanding substance use disorders (Davies & Cameron, 2010; Martin et al., 2011; Wasmuth et al., 2014). Using a phenomenological approach not only helped focus on the particular phenomenon of substance use disorders, it also supported the use of qualitative methods like interviews to collect data related to the human experience (Creswell, 2014).

Two semi-structured interviews were conducted with participants; an initial interview lasting 20 to 45 minutes and a follow up interview lasting about 15 minutes. The semi-structured interview format was beneficial as it did not require standardization (Adams, 2015). Open-ended questions were utilized to explore the totality of the lived experience and how the phenomenon of substance use disorders impacted the participants' lives. This allowed for open, free-flowing dialogue with participants, where the interviewer could tailor the pre-developed questions, as needed. Additionally, a semi-structured interview format provided opportunities to ask probing "how" or "why" questions during the interviews as needed (Adams, 2015). Examples of tailored interview questions included, "what are the most important things to you throughout your day?" and "what would you like to change about your current routine?" Follow-up interviews were

conducted for clarification of content provided during the initial interview. Follow up interview questions were individualized and conducted after a thorough reading of initial interview transcripts. Examples of individualized follow-up questions included, "what are some topics that you would want to be covered in the group?" or "what are your goals and priorities for the future?"

The semi-structured interview questions were developed based on a review of literature and partially informed by the Occupational Performance History Interview II (See Appendix A: Interview Questions). This tool was used as a guide as it included open-ended questions to understand individuals' daily lives and occupations (Kielhofner et al., 1998), and therefore aligned with the research questions for this study. The use of MOHO and related tools, as a theoretical lens, have been similarly implemented in occupational therapy research pertaining to substance addiction (Davies & Cameron, 2010; Martin et al., 2017).

Researcher Description and Researcher-Participant Relationships

The primary researcher was a novice graduate student researcher, with no significant previous research experience and was previously employed as a case manager at the recruitment site for four years. Despite prior employment at the recruitment site, no relationship existed between the primary researcher and the participants in this study. Additionally, the primary researcher had no direct involvement in the recruitment of participants. The faculty advisor and thesis committee member for this study were both licensed occupational therapists with several years of experience producing scholarly work.

Participant Recruitment

After receiving Ithaca College Institutional Review Board (IRB) approval (#4870) (Appendix B), and a letter of approval from the behavioral healthcare agency serving mental health and substance use disorders in New Jersey, United States of America (Appendix C), an onsite agency supervisor disseminated the recruitment invitation (Appendix D) via an email blast to two sites providing substance treatment programs. The on-site agency supervisor was provided

with blank informed consent forms (Appendix E) to give to any individual who expressed interest in the study. A licensed clinical social worker at one site electronically provided the primary researcher with signed informed consent forms from five individuals who were receiving substance related services through the agency. These participants were informed about the study from their individual counselors.

Inclusion Criteria

In order to participate in the study, individuals were required to; (1) be between 18 and 65 years old (2) have a diagnosis of a substance abuse disorder (3) be receiving psychotherapy or group therapy for substance use in the last 6 months (4) not currently homeless or in prison (5) not have a history of self-harm or harm of others and (6) not have a diagnosis of severe mental illness. Individuals were excluded from this study if any of the above inclusion criteria was not met.

Data Collection and Recording Data Transformation

Despite recruiting at two different clinical sites, all initial interviews were completed at one clinical site, were face-to-face, and occurred during the Intensive Outpatient Program (IOP) group time of all participants. Three individuals who had previously consented to participate did not show for their scheduled interviews. An intensive outpatient group counselor informed current on-site group members about the study and three new individuals participated after reading and signing informed consent forms. A total of five participants engaged in consecutive semi-structured interviews. Only two participants took part in follow up interviews despite all five participants voluntarily providing their phone numbers during the initial interview process. The three participants without follow up interviews were unresponsive to calls attempting to schedule. The total time for the interviews (initial and follow-up) ranged between 20 and 50 minutes. Individuals were compensated with 25-dollar Visa gift cards for participation in initial interview. TEMI (2020) transcription software was used to transcribe the recorded audio files verbatim and all identifying information was removed (TEMI, 2020). TEMI transcriptions were

cross referenced with original audio files to ensure accuracy. Handwritten notes were taken during all interviews and all collected data was marked with first and last initials to correspond with each participant for referencing and to prevent errors during the data analysis process.

Analysis

The primary researcher and faculty advisor separately conducted independent initial descriptive coding for each transcription. The phenomenological approach allowed the research team to make notes and form initial codes (Creswell & Poth, 2018). The process of reading through transcripts and forming codes was iterative. Concept maps were utilized for assistance throughout the coding process. Codes were grouped together based on similar meaning until themes and subthemes emerged. To ensure research questions were being answered, the primary researcher categorized emergent themes to correspond with the appropriate research question.

Several methods were implemented to establish trustworthiness of the data analysis (Creswell & Poth, 2018). Engaging in reflexivity in order to achieve confirmability was made apparent prior to engaging in the research process. That is, the primary researcher disclosed any preconceived understandings stemming from personal work experience. Second, constant comparison between primary researcher and faculty advisor was implemented for credibility throughout all stages of the coding process. Third, an audit trail was utilized for dependability which includes a compilation of all notes and concept maps leading to the development of the themes. Fourth, to ensure credibility, peer reviewing by the thesis advisor was implemented wherein questions related to the methods, understanding of concepts, and interpretation of data were asked. Fifth, the research committee member served as a third independent reviewer of data for external auditing (Creswell & Poth, 2018).

Chapter 4: Results

Five participants completed the initial interview for this study, all of whom attended the same Intensive Outpatient Program (IOP) at one clinical site of a behavioral healthcare agency in central New Jersey, United States of America. Participants' characteristics varied in sex, age, employment status, and substance use (Table 1) but shared some commonalities. All five participants acknowledged having a form of substance use disorder when they signed the informed consent as it included the inclusion criteria. All participants had children and a form of social or environmental support such as family members, co-workers, community groups, leisure, and/or volunteer activities. All participants had extensive substance use histories as well as some form of involvement in a legal program (e.g., probation, parole, Department of Children and Families) while receiving behavioral healthcare services. Incidentally, while no participant reported any difficulties with body functions, such as cognition or motor skills due to their substance use disorders, tangential speech, delayed understanding, and response to questions were observed in interviews with all participants. It is also important to note, two participants explicitly discussed challenges with mental health in conjunction with substance use.

Data analysis revealed several themes related to the three research questions for this study: (1) What are the lived experiences of individuals with substance use disorders who are receiving behavioral health services? (2) What are the perceptions of daily life of individuals with substance use disorders who are receiving behavioral health services? (3) What are the perceptions of the behavioral health services received by individuals with substance use disorders? Throughout the results, participants will be referred to by their initials to maintain anonymity.

Lived Experiences

Themes that emerged related to the lived experiences of participants included: cycle of use, emotional distress, and motivators for sobriety.

Cycle of use. All five participants spoke about experiencing a cycle of substance use, referring to a pattern of drugs and/or alcohol use, characterized by periods of sobriety and relapse. All participants began using either in childhood to early adulthood for varying reasons ranging from traumatic life events and peer pressure to medicating for pain management. One participant alluded to having a genetic predisposition and experiencing modelling behavior, in that his father was an alcoholic and he wanted to be just like his father. E.B. stated:

My father was an alcoholic. That's what he did. I followed him. [I] wanted to be like my father. My first time hanging out in the bar was with him in Texas because back then, or even now, he was proud. 'Oh, I can bring my son and send him to the bar, feed him a beer [at] 11 - 12 years old that is cool' [with sarcasm].

Throughout participants' cycle of use, relapse occurred for varying reasons. Similar to reasons for onset of use, some participants succumbed to peer pressure while others presented with difficulty coping with ongoing traumas, pain, life demands, relationships, and lost employment. K.S., A.H., and E.B. identified an extensive history of "use and abuse" spanning decades, while J.F. and M.G. identified having received services multiple times from either the same or different recovery programs. E.B. and K.S. used the terms "vicious cycle" and "spinning wheel" to describe their history of use. A.H stated:

This is a pivotal moment here because my dad was an alcoholic and I had always stayed away. I never drank, but I never ever would drink to numb a feeling, you know. I socially have a couple, but this was just different. Sure, enough I did, and I got whipped and then I was whipped for a while and it just snowballed from there. I had gotten treatment and I had clean time and relapse and clean time and relapse and clean time throughout.

Emotional distress. All five participants in this study shared sentiments of loss, guilt, and/or remorse throughout their histories of drug and/or alcohol use. Participants experienced loss of privileges, trust from family and peers, relationships with spouses or children, and employment. Two participants spoke of lost independence and subsequent dependency on others

due to revoked driving privileges. M.G. stated, "I lost my license a couple of months back. So, like it would just make me happier to do things on my own time rather than other people's time." Meanwhile, J.F. spoke of lost contact with her children due to her substance use history. J.F. stated "None of my other kids do [call her mom]. My six-year-old is with her paternal side and my oldest was adopted. I haven't seen her since 2010 and not by choice. They shut me and my family out completely." This loss contributed to J.F.'s guilt over not meeting the requirements of the Department of Child Protection and Permanency (DCPP) to regain custody of her other children, as she did for her son. Guilt is the term to describe the blame placed on oneself over the inability to fulfill responsibilities/roles when necessary. E.B. felt guilty for being a "bad father" and believed this emotion might subside if he maintained sobriety.

Apart from loss and guilt, some participants described remorse which was understood to be the awareness of and regret over life decisions. E.B. stated, "[I] was still doing shit I shouldn't have been doing," and wished to erase past actions. K.S. stated:

I didn't take all the advice, you know, I half assed it. I went to a couple of meetings here and there...I white knuckled it for two years. You get out what you put in, right? You put in nothing you're going to get nothing. I wish I knew [what I know now] back then to take everybody seriously.

Motivators for sobriety. Four participants discussed intrinsic motivators, or internal thoughts or emotions that provided reasons to maintain sobriety. E. B. mentioned that a "fear of relapse" was a motivator in his recovery process when he stated, "thinking about it [relapse] right now scares me. I don't want to go off the beam." For two participants, intrinsic motivators related to the desire to maintain their relationships with family members. Additionally, these same two participants along with another described their intrinsic motivation as being related to an enhanced sense of self-worth stating, "it just feels good to be clean and responsible," and "she [daughter] calls me now and she asks me for help and for guidance." K.S. was intrinsically motivated by the pride and content expressed by his family members. He stated:

I'm sober for today, you know what I mean? My family, my daughter means everything to me and she's so proud of where I'm at. And just that alone right there makes my day just knowing that she can go to bed tonight and knowing that I was sober. And if she needed me, I'd be able to be there for her, sober.

E. B. had increased determination for sobriety, despite feelings of low self-worth based on others' opinions of him. He described a conversation that transpired with former colleagues:

You're talking to me? I'm an alcoholic addict truck driver. So why do you like me? '[Employers stated] because you do your job. You don't complain. People like you.' I never saw myself as that a little bit, but they saw that more. I thought, I've got a lot to live up to.

Some participants were motivated by their responsibilities of caring for family members and/or pets and others were motivated by expectations of employers, legal entities (drug court, probation, Department of Children and Families), and living environments. M.G. shared:

I live in one of those Oxford houses, like the sober living house. It's kinda just a house where a bunch of people don't do drugs. And if you do then you get kicked out. Every week we have like a business meeting about the money and the rent and the bills and that's it.

Perceptions of Daily Life

Themes that emerged related to the perceptions of daily life for participants included: occupying time, staying connected, giving up control, meeting expectations, and living in the moment versus planning for the future.

Occupying time. All participants described their day-to-day schedules to include everything from program and community involvement to home care responsibilities and provision of family care. A.H. shared:

I cook all the meals. I have my mom also. I help her as much as she needs. I get her medication, I'm responsible for all of her medications. I am responsible for all of my own

medications. I help her dress. I make sure she has her meals in her bed, and I sit and spend a lot of time with her, talking with her.

Most participants shared the importance of occupying their time to either avoid relapse, falling into 'old behaviors', or boredom. E.B. stated, "I keep very busy. I mean, I get bored and all I know is to go back and do drinking and drugs...just try to keep busy, surround myself with positive stuff." Meanwhile, K.S. stated:

I occupy myself with doing normal responsibilities...cutting up the lawn, winterize it, raked the leaves out...first couple of weeks of becoming sober you still don't feel great! I had to force myself [to stay busy] because if you get into that, downtime mood, you always want to stay like that.

Apart from home management K.S. took part in Alcoholics Anonymous (AA), sought volunteer activities such as firefighting, went fishing, and even requested an increase in days with his Intensive Outpatient Group.

Similar sentiments to "downtime mood" were shared by other participants who equated staying productive to decreased boredom and decreased bad days. A.H. stated:

[in reference to what a good day looks like] Productive. Getting things done, not wanting to stay in my room. A bad day for me is in my bed and not wanting to answer my door, not wanting to answer the phone, doing the absolute minimum that I need to do.

Staying connected. All participants described the importance of staying connected or maintaining strong bonds/associations spiritually, with friends, with family, or with peers challenged by similar circumstances. For E.B. maintaining his bond with "God" correlated with maintaining sobriety. He stated:

It's church in the morning because that shapes my day.... if I don't let go, let God in in the morning, I'm on this crazy path for today. That for me is my basis right now. That keeps me centered. And good that I found that. Some people might have goldfish they talk to, but I got God that I talk to.

Apart from church, E.B also described the need to care for his dog, attend AA meetings, consistently speak with his mother, and stay in touch with former co-workers.

Similarly, K.S described the importance of and gratitude towards God, in addition to his wife, daughter, and parents, for continued support in his life. For K.S., the support from his family was crucial for survival. K.S. recalled:

There was just so much emotions and stress that something broke up there [brain]. It's a

thought that went through my mind. It was like I was planning it all out and everything [refers to part thoughts of suicide]. You know, luckily my wife and my dad were there. J.F. also described the importance of the support provided by her grandparents throughout her life, as well as how connected she felt to her son whom she was able to regain custody of. Two additional participants described how their leisure activities center on time spent with family or friends. M.G. spoke of the importance of playing video games as it connected him to his friends and A.H. spoke of how she enjoyed crafting as it allowed her to spend time with her grandchildren.

Giving up control. All five participants', either willingly or due to external pressures, gave up control to allow others to make decisions pertaining to their lives. E.B. willingly handed control over his life to God. He recalled:

I wouldn't be where I am today if God wasn't involved in my life. I don't force it on anybody, but miracles in my life.... when I let things go and quit trying to control things and just try to pray on it, things go the way it's supposed to... I made a decision to turn my will and my life over to the care of God as I understand it.

K. S. also referred to the control God had over his life. He stated:

God had different plans for me because you know, if he wanted me, he would've let me hang myself or overdose or whatever the case may be, but he got other plans for me because it gave me the opportunity to sit here and speak to you.

Four participants were required to stop driving and lost the ability to participate in activities on their own time due to revoked privileges and external circumstances beyond their control. J.F. described a level of acceptance over loss of driving privileges. She stated, "[this is] not my entire life...I might have to work around things you know, and it can be navigated." However, she described continued determination to seek the ability to drive again as she wanted to be able to participate in activities that were meaningful to her. M. G. described having to accept sober living house rules, such as following a curfew, however, was determined to regain control over 'doing things on [his] own time.' He continued:

I can't sleep out because I'm on drug court, or I can't be out as the curfew is nine o'clock. I can't drive. The curfew thing is whatever cause you can at least have somebody come over. But the driving thing...that's important to me. I gotta fix that.

Meeting expectations. All participants described that within their daily lives, they had to meet the expectations associated with fulfilling personal roles and responsibilities. These roles and responsibilities pertained to family members, employers, substance related programs, and legal entities. M.G. described the expectations placed upon him by his sober living home, such as maintaining house duties and meeting curfew. Some found that meeting expectations had positive benefits. K.S. described that putting in the effort to meet expectations of others in his life, boosted his morale. He stated:

They [counselors] don't fully, open up or, trust or whatever the case, so I'm doing everything [to the] highest of my ability. I want to put [in] that good work. Knowing myself and my God, that I was honest. But everybody believed me, and it was such a great fucking feeling.

Participant J.F. described the importance of fulfilling her roles and responsibilities, however in doing so, created a void in other areas of her life. J.F. spoke of wanting to take care of her medical needs and pursue further education but these took a backseat due to her obligations of caring for her son, her grandparents, and meeting program requirements. She shared:

At this moment I feel like my responsibilities are taken care of. There are certain things that I still need to take care of, like myself...I need to go to see an ophthalmologist...regular things like OBGYN and stuff like that. And I feel like I'm just kinda lacking on that part. But I'm putting my son first before me because I [have] never done that... Being responsible and showing up...and not being all messed up and being able to concentrate and it will be responsible to do that... and help my grandparents out too as much as I can...It's tough right now, if I wanted to go back to school, it's hard, I have to work, I have to support myself and my child...It's not about what I want, it's about what he needs.

A similar sentiment was shared by M.G. who stated that the demanding schedule associated with substance related programs and meeting expectations of his sober living environment kept him from pursuing other goals.

Living in the moment versus planning for the future. Some participants spoke of living in the moment as they had difficulty reflecting on future plans. When prompted about what else she wanted to do in her life A.H stated, "I don't know. I never gave it any thought." A.H. also presented with difficulty reflecting on personal interests, taking increased time to describe any leisure activities she participated in. On the other hand, planning for the future elicited apprehension for E.B., who much preferred living in the moment. He shared:

I'm just scared. Everything's a good routine, you know what I mean? One thing at a time. I've got a lot going on in the last month...whatever happens is going to happen next. That's the way I can do that today. I mean, that's the only way I'm surviving.

Of the five participants, M.G., was the only who was able to reflect on future plans but noted a busy schedule was a barrier in taking action towards his goals. He stated, "Yeah, soon as I get out of the IOP and my time frees up. I'm going to go to a cosmetology school and become a barber."

J.F. described short-term goals for the future but had less concrete plans. She stated:

I know my short-term goal right now is to get my license back this month. Save money, get a car, be independent. Eventually, you know, once I get transportation, I could maybe go find another job. Or, obviously get off drug court. Just to be able to support myself and my kid.

J.F. described the importance of taking care of her child and complying with program and legal requirements as barriers to taking action towards her goals.

Perceptions of Current Behavioral Health Services

Themes that emerged related to participants' perceptions of current behavioral health services included: meeting immediate needs and trust versus individuality.

Meeting immediate needs. All participants discussed that their current program met their current social and support needs. For some participants their current program provided written updates of compliance for legal entities. Participants stated they simply had to ask, and they would be provided with the needed resource or have their need/request met so long as it was "reasonable." M.G. shared, "Even when I need so-and-so to write me a letter for court and they do that, that's my needs being met. Like anything that I can really ask for that is reasonable." If a participant's need was not fulfilled, the onus was on the participant, as A.H. described:

If it [the program] didn't suit a need it was because I wasn't putting out there what I needed [advocating for herself] or wasn't taking part [being involved fully in the program], you know, but services have always been there. It's just me.

One participant described the current program to be a place to seek social support and discuss ongoing problems in his life. He recalled the support his counselors, group members, and probation officer showed him after a false negative drug screen stating, "Everybody [was] like you got this, we support you, we believe in you. That was good, because for the past five years you have people always like 'I don't care about your problems or we don't believe you.'

Only M.G. reflected on the limitations of the services he received. He wished for his current group program to include scenario-based discussions to provide members the opportunity

to critically think and reflect on the repercussions of potential relapses. He shared, "If [someone] were to relapse today what would the next three months be like in his family life, his work life, social life, and his own life."

Trust and individuality. One sentiment shared by most participants was the lack of trust and/or individuality they experienced throughout various treatment programs that they had participated in. J.F. described how she would be faulted or lumped together with other group members who may have broken rules or engaged in substance use at the primary treatment agency. She stated:

Something that happened the other night, people weren't listening or [were] talking...and it's always everyone. It's not always everyone. Half of the people in the classroom were vaping [according to group leaders]. No, we weren't. That stigma as 'everyone' is not everyone. Pinpoint the people that actually did it. Why do I have to suffer, because that person can't follow the rules?

M.G. described a similar sentiment at his sober living home. He stated, "if one person falls out, it could affect somebody else."

Meanwhile, K.S. explained the value of trust from peers and clinicians at his program and its impact on his self-worth. He shared:

My mind is still trying to get back from using in the last five years and then this hits you [referring to a false positive on a drug test]. For once you're being honest and yet nobody believes in you. But then once I found out everybody was believing me...I was in a good mood... And like she [counselor] was the first one that believed me right off the bat.

Chapter 5: Discussion

This study aimed to understand the lived experiences and perceptions of daily life and behavioral health services of individuals with substance use disorders currently receiving behavioral health treatment. Thematic analysis revealed several themes related to each of the research questions.

Lived Experiences

Participants in this study described a history of a cycle of use, emotional distress, and varying motivators for sobriety over time. All participants experienced a cycle of drug and/or alcohol use often beginning in childhood and spanning several months to years; biological and contextual factors influenced onset and relapse episodes. Throughout each participant's cycles of use, intrinsic or extrinsic motivators influenced sobriety. Participants described multiple episodes of care with either the same or different substance misuse programs. Participants lived with an ongoing expectation of potential relapse that could derail their recovery and subsequently create ongoing emotional distress and fear. These results suggest that there is a significant gap between current behavioral health services for substance use disorders and an individual's ability to maintain long-term sobriety. It may be important for individuals with substance use disorders to receive more consistent and effective healthcare interventions that go beyond meeting their immediate support and social needs. Additionally, participants experienced significant emotional distress related to their cycle of substance use, expressing sentiments of loss, guilt, and remorse associated with their level of independence, employment, relationships, and other life decisions. These results support the research of Martin et al. (2011) who found mothers in recovery from drug and/or alcohol addiction expressed guilt and/or remorse over their inadequate handling of responsibilities pertaining to their children. It is possible these sentiments pertaining to past actions or inactions impact decisions in the present.

Perceptions of Daily Life

Participants in this study reflected on the importance of occupying time, staying connected, giving up control, meeting expectations, and living in the moment or planning for the future. All participants verbalized the importance of occupying their time and staying busy. For some participants occupying their time by engaging in activities in their communities, homes, or virtually was important to prevent boredom. Some participants spent their days connecting with family and friends, while others connected spiritually. For others, the fear of relapse contributed to a need to occupy time by engaging in activities to assure sobriety. The theme of 'occupying time' was also found by Cruz (2019) and Wasmuth et al. (2016b). Cruz (2019) found that 'leisure exploration and participation' was the result of the participants' desire to fill their time with substance-free activities to prevent relapse. Similarly, Wasmuth and colleagues (2016b) identified that participants sought out 'other occupations' to avert addictive behaviors. The consistent theme of 'occupying time' found in this study and prior research offers insight into the importance of engaging in meaningful occupations as a means to support recovery and mitigate boredom and subsequent relapse.

The theme of 'staying connected' in this study was also a common theme in both occupational therapy and psychology literature (Cruz, 2019; Cavanaugh, 2019). Cruz (2019) described 'social participation' to include a desire to engage with family members or the community. Cavanaugh (2019) found individuals in recovery from homelessness and substance misuse valued making and maintaining social connections post recovery for multiple reasons ranging from increased self-image from being connected to a more 'responsible' group of peers to fostering connections and networks for potential job opportunities. In this study, participants placed value on spiritual relationships or relationships with family, friends, peers, and community members. All participants occupied their time with some form of social connection, and some took part in leisure activities which connected them to a friend or family member. Social connection was a key component of occupying time as relationships with other individuals

outside of the treatment program were prioritized. The results of this study support that of Cavanaugh (2019), in that it may be reasonable to assume that social connections are valuable to the recovery process.

Participants described either willingly, or due to external circumstances, giving up control over their lives. Two participants described handing control over to God. It is relevant to note, that both participants were actively engaged in Alcoholics Anonymous, a 12-Step program with a strong spiritual focus (Donovan et al., 2013). The spiritual aspect of the 12-Step Program may explain the readiness to hand over control of life decisions to God as demonstrated by the two participants in this study. Giving up control due to external circumstances beyond participants' control resulted in forms of lost independence such as driving, which led to an inability to participate in occupations on their own time. One participant was more vocal about their determination to regain lost driving privileges, while some participants demonstrated a level of acceptance over their circumstances; this may be a result of an increased need to comply with what was expected of them.

Participants described the importance of 'meeting expectations' of other people, treatment programs, living environments, and legal entities. For some participants, meeting expectations contributed to an enhanced sense of self-worth or *self-concept* (AOTA, 2020a). For others, meeting expectations signified role competence (AOTA, 2020a). A similar result by Davies & Cameron (2010) was found in that participants placed an importance on fulfilment of responsibilities. Participants in this study acknowledged experiencing a loss of relationships and roles during periods of active substance use. It may be that participants now placed a greater value on their relationships after becoming sober and therefore had increased motivation to meet the expectations associated with their relationships. This is supported by Lander and colleagues (2013) who explained that obligation towards family may be the result of the typical toll that substance use disorders have on familial relationships.

Other participants experienced, to some degree, occupational deprivation. Occupational deprivation was noted by two participants who described not having time to engage in all desired occupations such as preventative healthcare or further education due to their substance program requirements and other role responsibilities. Busy schedules, complying with loss of privileges and independence, meeting the requirements associated with treatment programs and legal entities, and prioritizing certain roles and responsibilities, resulted in these participants placing little importance on self. Decreased focus on self may explain why some participants had difficulty establishing future oriented goals. In this study, some participants were able to loosely formulate long-term goals for themselves while others never gave it a thought. The participants who described not having time to engage in health maintenance or pursue further education, were noted to have only vague plans for the future. In both cases, participants stated that the responsibilities and demands placed upon them were keeping them from moving forward and accessing all desired occupations.

Perceptions of Current Behavioral Health Services

Finally, all participants perceived that the services they were receiving from their current treatment program were meeting their immediate support and social needs, especially when they experienced feelings of trust and individuality from their treatment providers. All participants described satisfaction with their services in that they met their needs associated with fulfilling legal and program requirements. One participant noted that the onus was on the participants themselves if they perceived that their needs were not being met; emphasizing that if individuals were willing to ask for what they needed, they would receive it. It is interesting to note that participants in this study were not able to identify any other outstanding treatment needs they might have beyond the need for immediate support and socialization.

These results may be explained by two possibilities. First, all participants came from the same program and group, and shared counselors. This may have impacted the quality and diversity of services they have received thus far. Second, since no participant reported receiving

occupational therapy services, they may not recognize the occupational needs they have that fall within the scope of occupational therapy and that are missing from their current care. Only one participant was able to reflect on something he would want to change about the behavioral health services he was receiving, which was related to scenario-based education. Additionally, while most participants expressed satisfaction with their behavioral health services, some participants discussed a perceived lack of trust and individuality from counselors which may speak to a lack of client-centered care. Client-centered services that focus on facilitating optimum occupational performance, health management and maintenance, and long-term goal setting and achievement may be potential roles for occupational therapy practitioners when working with individuals with substance use disorders.

Model of Human Occupation

Many of the themes identified in this study can be understood through the lens of the MOHO, similar to previous research on substance use disorders (Cruz, 2019; Davies & Cameron, 2010; Dietz & Schriber, 2017; Wasmuth et al., 2014). In this study, participants' lives were shaped by a pervasive cycle of drug and/or alcohol use impacting their occupational lives. This cycle of use included periods of sobriety and relapse, dependent on participants' volition, including intrinsic/extrinsic motivators, occupational choices, and the influence of environmental triggers and supports. Participants' occupational choices related to their social and spiritual engagement, occupying their time with adaptive activities, and fulfilling roles and responsibilities. Level of control over the circumstances in their life may have also impacted participants' volitions. Participants described their daily routines to include a focus on role fulfillment (such as caring for family members and completing household chores), adjustment to lost driving privileges and lost ability to determine their own schedules, and compliance with legal entities and current substance treatment programs. Habituation from a previous lifestyle to a new lifestyle required participants to create adjustments and adapt to the changes that have occurred in their lives due to their cycles of use.

As the MOHO is person-centered (Kielhofner, 2008), it may be useful in addressing the potential areas of need identified in this study. First, MOHO enables occupational therapy practitioners to view each person as an individual, not part of the collective (Forsyth et al., 2014; Kielfhofner, 2008;). Second, this model explores occupational adaptation which is notably difficult for participants who provided examples of occupational deprivation and loss of independence. Third, this model offers the development of measurable goal setting to support engagement in desired occupation and to create change (Forsyth et al., 2014; Kielfhofner, 2008). MOHO explores change, perceiving that change occurs both internally and externally in the individuals' environment (Cole & Tufano, 2008). If an individual chooses to engage in new behaviors, adequate practice and incorporation of feedback from the environment may allow for new behaviors to become more habitual (Cole & Tufano, 2008). This aligns with the findings of Correia et al. (2005) and Daughters et al. (2017) who found individuals' persistent engagement with non-substance use activities, such as leisure activities led to changes which resulted in increased abstinence (Correia et al, 2005). Therefore, MOHO may be a useful theoretical lens when working with individuals with substance use disorders to develop new occupational choices, involving non-substance related behaviors. Finally, though none of the participants in this study indicated any changes in performance capacity, participants displayed tangential speech and slowed response to questions during the interview process. Previous studies indicate that cognition and motor skills are impacted by substance addiction (Rojo-Mota et al., 2013; Rojo-Mota et al., 2014). Given the pervasive cycle of substance use noted by participants, it is likely that cognitive and motor skills were impacted, however, these were not specifically assessed in this study. Since impaired performance capacity negatively influences occupational performance in individuals with substance use disorders (Rojo-Mota et al., 2014) assessing client factors and performance skills would be a relevant role for occupational therapy within traditional substance treatment programs.

Transtheoretical Model (Stages of Change)

Given the chronic and cyclical nature of substance addiction (NIDA, 2018a), it may be beneficial to use the TTM in conjunction with occupation-based models, such as MOHO, to help understand the lives of individuals with substance use disorders and guide services. In this study, participants described their own experiences starting with 'precontemplation' and progressing to the 'action' stage of change. Whether voluntarily or mandated, all participants in this study were receiving behavioral health services and subsequently, were in the action stage of change.

Participants were in the process of actively making behavioral and lifestyle adaptations in response to the recovery program and legal requirements and creating a lifestyle free from drug and/or alcohol use. Participants identified short-term goals to support maintenance of their sobriety but had difficulty establishing long term goals and plans, which could negatively impact ongoing 'maintenance' of sobriety and engagement in meaningful and adaptive occupations.

Prochaska & Di Clemente (1982) discussed the importance of self-efficacy when attempting behavior change. Therefore, individuals may require a strong sense of self-efficacy to ensure long-term maintenance of sobriety especially given participants' experiences with multiple episodes of relapse and remission.

Implications for Occupational Therapy

This study was unique because it explored perceptions of current behavioral health services and the lived experiences and daily lives of individuals with substance use disorders. While the themes found in this study were similar to that of previous occupational therapy studies, such as Cavanaugh, (2019), Cruz, (2019), Davies & Cameron, (2010), and Wasmuth et al. (2016b), unique themes pertaining to daily life and perceptions of current behavioral health services were also revealed. This supports the role of occupational therapy practitioners as part of the interdisciplinary team providing services to individuals with substance use disorders.

Participants identified several areas of occupation that they valued, including relationships with family and friends, spirituality, community, work, home maintenance, and care

of family members. During periods of active substance use, participants lost relationships, work, and described guilt and remorse over decisions and inadequate fulfillment of roles and responsibilities. Additionally, participants described the impact of lack of trust being an unwanted result of active drug and/or alcohol use that impacted relationships with counselors, group members, family members, and on personal self-worth. During sobriety, participants demonstrated the ability to engage in occupations that met the demands of various roles but noted difficulty in participating in other areas of desired occupations such as health management, education, and work. As sobriety plays an important role in the lives of this group of participants, an opportunity for occupational therapy may be to assist individuals in maintaining long-term sobriety and engagement in current and new meaningful occupations.

Maintenance is a stage of change within the TTM, a model beginning to be adopted by occupational therapy practitioners as the profession moves towards an active role in health promotion and prevention in emerging areas of practice (Morris & Jenkins, 2018; Rietz, 2014). Therefore, in addition to the use of occupation-based models, occupational therapy practitioners may embrace existing health promotion models, like the TTM, as a basis for understanding health behavior change in individuals with substance use disorders. Utilizing the TTM, occupational therapy practitioners may be able to support an individual at any stage of change as needed. For example, occupational therapy practitioners may support social participation and exploration of leisure activities as participants identified a desire to stay occupied to prevent relapse and boredom.

In this study, participants presented with tangential speech and delayed understanding and response to interview questions. Therefore, a potential role for occupational therapy practitioners is to address cognitive changes in individuals with substance use disorders. Further, participants could not identify other treatment needs beyond the social and immediate support provided by their current behavioral health program. Yet, participants described receiving treatment for their substance use disorders multiple times and with several different

agencies suggesting that there may be gaps in traditional services impacting long term sobriety. Participants may not be aware of any other potential treatment needs they may have beyond the services provided by their current treatment program. A distinct value of occupational therapy within behavioral health services may be the assessment and treatment of impairments in performance skills and client factors (AOTA, 2020a) that may negatively impact successful occupational performance.

Finally, participants in this study noted difficulty in developing long-term goals and most participants appeared to "live in the moment," with only a few participants being able to conceive of future plans. Some participants noted future plans but seemed to be consumed by current commitments and roles, depriving them opportunities to engage in new and/or meaningful occupations. A role for occupational therapy practitioners in working with individuals challenged with substance use disorders is to assist in establishing client-centered long term goals using occupation-based models and frameworks which appears to be missing in behavioral health services. Given that the use of occupation to promote the health of an individual is within the occupational therapy scope of practice (AOTA, 2014), occupational therapy practitioners may focus on health promotion, maintenance, and prevention to support long term sobriety.

Cumulatively, these areas of support provided by occupational therapy practitioners may assist individuals with substance use disorders to lead more meaningful and productive lives.

Study Limitations

Results of this study may have been impacted by the recruitment process and variables during the interview process. First, the participant pool may share program related experiences, as they all came from one agency clinical site and IOP group, which may have impacted diversity of responses related to perceptions of current behavioral health program; participants may present with biases towards their program group or program counselor. Second, this study did not account for program policies, structures, or the individuals' socioeconomic status and their access to substance related services. This may have impacted who was able to participate in the study and

results may only represent a specific population demographic. Third, as the researcher could not verify whether or not participants accurately met the inclusion criteria for this study, the intended participant pool may not be accurately represented impacting the trustworthiness of the results. Fourth, contextual factors like environment, time, and structure of the behavioral health program may have impacted participant responses. Interviews were conducted during evening hours when most participants had scheduled transportation to return home. This could have impacted the depth of participant responses as they may have been eager to make their transportation on time. Further, participants were scheduled for back-to-back interviews leaving little time for the researcher to reflect on data and ask immediate follow-up questions. Additionally, only two individuals responded for follow-up interviews potentially limiting the richness and accuracy of the data. Fifth, because this research included participants solely from an outpatient setting, the results cannot speak to the experiences of individuals with substance use disorders receiving different levels of care as they may present with different needs. Sixth, the types of questions asked during the interview process may have limited the depth of answers provided by participants, especially pertaining to perception of current behavioral health services. For example, participants were not asked questions regarding their understanding of occupational therapy services or their motor and cognitive functional abilities. . Therefore, they may not have been able to reflect upon potential treatment needs and gaps within current behavioral health services.

Chapter 6: Summary, Conclusions, & Future Research

Substance use disorders result in thousands of deaths per year in the United States. Individuals challenged by substance addiction may face significant physical, psychological, and social impairments impacting participation in daily life activities. The pervasive impact of substance addiction on the individual aligns with the holistic client-centered approach used in occupational therapy. Occupational therapy practitioners are already working with individuals challenged by substance use disorders, conditions diagnosed to include the spectrum of use (APA, 2013). Occupational therapy studies have explored the impact of addiction on individuals' physical and cognitive health (Martin et al., 2011; Rojo-Mota et al., 2014; Sanchez-Camarero et al., 2019; Wasmuth et al., 2015), sensory function (Bar-Shalita et al., 2019), participation in occupation (Cruz, 2019; Davies & Cameron, 2010; Wasmuth et al., 2016b), and occupational identities (Martin et al., 2011). Occupational therapy studies have also explored addiction as an occupation (Wasmuth et al., 2014; Wasmuth et al., 2016b), the opioid epidemic (Pivont & McCombie, 2020), and have developed measures and protocols (Dietz & Schriber, 2017; Martin et al., 2015) to assist in working with this population. Yet, the results of systematic reviews indicate that there is inconclusive evidence supporting occupational therapy's role when working with individuals with substance use disorders (Hutchinson et al., 2019; Rojo-Mota et al., 2017a; Wasmuth et al., 2016a).

The purpose of this study was to explore the impact that substance use disorders have on individuals' lives and their perceptions of daily life and current behavioral health services. In doing so, this study aimed to add to the existing occupational therapy literature and potentially further help in identifying a role for occupational therapy when working with individuals with substance use disorders. Based on the views of participants in this study, substance use disorders created a pervasive cycle of drug and/or alcohol use which impacted role fulfillment, participation in occupations, and self-concept. In their daily lives, participants utilized social participation, leisure activities, spirituality, and/or community engagement as a means of occupying their time

out of fear of potential relapse or due to boredom. Given the results of this study, potential roles for occupational therapy with this population include providing client-centered care to aid in planning and achieving long-term occupational goals, fostering health and wellness, addressing potential client factors and performance skills that may be impacting occupational performance, facilitating enhanced self-worth and self-efficacy, and creating adaptive habits and appropriate use of time to foster enhanced success in maintaining sobriety.

Conclusions of the Present Study

- Substance use disorders may create a pervasive cycle of use impacting individuals' participation in daily occupations, emotional health, and self-concept.
- 2. Individuals living with substance use disorders may value occupying time and social connection out of fear of relapse and/or boredom.
- 3. Individuals with substance use disorders may live with altered levels of control over their lives and life decisions and seem to strive to meet the expectations of others sometimes creating occupational deprivation in their own lives.
- 4. Individuals with substance use disorders may have challenges with developing long-term goals, establishing their own individuality, and trusting others.
- 5. Individuals with substance use disorders may perceive that behavioral health services are effective in meeting their treatment needs; however, may lack insight into unmet treatment needs and additional available services, such as occupational therapy.
- 6. Potential roles for occupational therapy when working with individuals with substance use disorders may be utilizing occupation-based theories and public health models to create client-centered treatment plans to assist individuals with engaging in self-care, establishing occupational identity, facilitating long-term goals, and maintaining sobriety, as desired.

Recommendations for Future Research

As a result of the significant impact substance addiction has on individuals and society and how the occupational therapy profession aligns well with the needs of the population, the following are recommendations for future occupational therapy studies:

- Explore perspectives of individuals across all levels of care and settings to gain a greater understanding of the varied needs of individuals with varying levels of function receiving treatment for substance use disorders.
- 2. Create similar studies exploring the lived experiences and perceptions of daily life and current behavioral health services of individuals with substance use disorders across multiple settings, geographical locations, and with a diverse participant group further supported by quantitative studies to enable greater generalization of results.
- 3. Explore the effectiveness of occupation-based occupational therapy services with individuals actively receiving treatment for substance use disorders.
- 4. Explore the provision of occupational therapy services with individuals challenged by substance use disorders to address potential impacts of substance use on client factors and performance skills.

References

- Abraham, A. J., Andrews, C. M., Grogan, C. M., D'Aunno, T., Humphreys, K. N., Pollack, H. A., & Friedmann, P. D. (2017). The Affordable Care Act transformation of substance use disorder treatment. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(1), 31–32. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303558
- Adams, W. C. (2015). Conducting semi-structured interviews. In K. E. Newcomer, H. P. Hatry, & J. S. Wholey (Eds.), *Handbook of Practical Program Evaluation* (p. 492-505). Jossey-Bass.
- Agerwala, S. M. & McCance-Katz, E. F. (2012). Integrating screening, brief intervention, and referral to treatment (sbirt) into clinical practice settings: A brief review. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, 44(4), 307-317. doi: 10.1038/jid.2014.371
- American Occupational Therapy Association. (2014). Scope of practice. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 68(3). https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2014.686S04
- American Occupational Therapy Association (2015, May 22). Occupational therapists listed in new criteria for federal behavioral health program. Retrieved from https://www.aota.org/Publications-News/ForTheMedia/OT-in-the-News/2015/052212-CCBHC.aspx
- American Occupational Therapy Association. (2020a). Occupational therapy practice framework: Domain & process 4th edition. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2020.74S2001
- American Occupational Therapy Association. (2020b). What is occupational therapy? Retrieved from https://www.aota.org/Conference-Events/OTMonth/what-is-OT.aspx
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.) https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596
- American Psychological Association. (2020). What is cognitive behavioral therapy? Retrieved from https://www.apa.org/ptsd-guideline/patients-and-families/cognitive-behavioral

- Bar-Shalita, T., Asayag, N., Bonneh, Y., & Parush, S. (2019). Sensory modulation disorder and pain in substance-use disorder. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 73*. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2019.73S1-RP103B
- Cami, J. & Farre, M. (2003). Drug addiction. *The New England Journal of Medicine*. 349(10), 975-987. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra023160
- Cavanaugh, C. (2019). "They say when you're in a hole, stop digging": Recovery from comorbid homelessness and substance misuse in Anchorage, Alaska (Publication No. 10826879)

 [Doctoral dissertation, University of Alaska Anchorage]. ProQuest LLC.
- Cole, M. B. & Tufano, R. (2008). Applied theories in occupational therapy: A practical approach. SLACK Incorporated.
- Correia, C. J., Benson, T. A., & Carey, K. B. (2005). Decreased substance use following increases in alternative behaviors: A preliminary investigation. *Addictive Behaviors*, 30, 19-27. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2004.04.006
- Costello, M. J., Li, Y., Remers, S., MacKillop, J., Sousa, S., Ropp, C., Roth, D., Weiss M., & Rush, B. (2019). Effects of 12-step mutual support and professional outpatient services on short-term substance use outcomes among adults who received inpatient treatment.

 Addictive Behaviors, 98. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2019.106055
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed.). SAGE publisher.
- Creswell, J. W. & Poth, C. N. (2018). *Qualitative inquiry & research design: Choosing among five approaches* (4th ed.). SAGE publisher.
- Cruz, T. (2019). *Identifying occupational therapy role for individuals in substance abuse and*addiction recovery programs [Doctoral dissertation, University of St. Augustine for Health Sciences]. Scholarship and Open Access Repository. Retrieved from https://soar.usa.edu/capstones/7/

- Cunha, P. J., Nicastri, S., Guerra de Andrade, A., & Bolla, K. I. (2010). The Frontal Assessment Battery reveals neurocognitive dysfunction in substance-dependent individuals in distinct executive domains: Abstract reasoning, motor programming, and cognitive flexibility.

 *Addictive Behaviors, 35, 875-881. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2010.05.005
- Daughters, S. B., Magidson, J. F., Anand, D., Seitz-Brown, C. J., Chen, Y., & Baker, S. (2017).

 The effect of a behavioral activation treatment for substance use on post-treatment abstinence: A randomized controlled trial. *Addiction*, 113, 535-544.

 doi:10.1111/add.14049
- Davies, R. & Cameron, J. (2010). Self-identified occupational competencies, limitations and priorities for change in the occupational lives of people with drug misuse problems. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 73(6), 251-260. doi: 10.4276/030802210X12759925468907
- Dietz, J. & Schriber, E. (2017). *Intensive outpatient program for substance abuse: Occupational therapy guideline to recovery* [Master's thesis, University of North Dakota]. University of North Dakota Scholarly Commons. Retrieved from https://commons.und.edu/otgrad/348
- Donovan, D. M., Ingalsbe, M. H., Benbow, J., Daley, D. C. (2013). 12-step interventions and mutual support programs for substance use disorders: An overview. *Social Work Public Health*, 28(0), 313-332. https://doi.org/10.1080/19371918.2013.774663
- Duckworth, K. (2015, April 10). Science meets the human experience: Integrating the medical and recovery models. National Alliance on Mental Illness. Retrieved from https://www.nami.org/blogs/nami-blog/april-2015/science-meets-the-human-experience-integrating-th
- Forsyth, K., Taylor, R. R., Kramer, J. M., Prior, S., Richie, L., Whitehead, J., Owen, C., & Melton, J. (2014). The Model of Human Occupation. In B. A. Boyt Schell, G. Gillen, &

- M. E. Scaffa (Eds.), Willard & Spackman's Occupational Therapy (pp. 505-525). Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Gutman, S. A (2006) Why addiction has a chronic, relapsing course: The neurobiology of addiction. *Occupational Therapy in Mental Health*, 22(2), 1-29. https://doi.org/10.1300/J004v22n02_01
- Hagan, E., Erga, A. H., Hagen, K. P., Nesvag, S. M, McKay, J. R., Lundervold, A. J., &
 Walderhaug, E. (2016). Assessment of executive function in patients with substance use
 disorder: A comparison of inventory and performance-based assessment. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 66, 1-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2016.02.010
- Hutchinson, K., Fox, R., Meador, A., Nelson, T., Wright, J., & Machnik, K. (2019). OT and outpatient behavioral health. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 73(4). doi: 10.5014/ajot.2019.73S1-PO6049
- Jiang, S., Wu, L., & Gao, X. (2017). Beyond face-to-face individual counseling: A systematic review on alternative modes of motivational interviewing in substance abuse treatment and prevention. *Addictive Behaviors*, 73, 216-235 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.05.023
- Kielhofner, G. (2008). Model of Human Occupation: Theory and application. (pp.10-21).
 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Kielhofner, G & Posatery Burke, J. (1980). A model of human occupation, part 1: Conceptual framework and content. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 34(9), 572-581. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.34.9.572
- Kielhofner, G., Mallinson, T., Crawford, C., Nowak, M., Rigby, M., Henry, A., & Walens, D. (1998). *The occupational performance history interview: OPHI-II: version 2.0: a user's manual.* Chicago: University of Illinois, College of Applied Health Sciences.
- LaMorte, W. W. (2019, September 9). The Transtheoretical Model (stages of change). Retrieved from https://sphweb.bumc.bu.edu/otlt/mph-

- modules/sb/behavioralchangetheories/BehavioralChangeTheories6.html#:~:text=The%20 TTM%20posits%20that%20individuals,action%2C%20maintenance%2C%20and%20ter mination.
- Lander, L., Howsare, J., & Byrne, M. (2013). The impact of substance use disorders on families and children: From theory to practice. *Social Work Public Health*, 28(0), 194-205. doi: 10.1080/19371918.2013.759005
- Lincoln, Y., Lynham, S. A., & Guba, E. G. (2011). Paradigmatic controversies, contradictions, and emerging confluences, revisited. In N. K. Denzin & Y. S. Lincoln (Eds.), *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research*. (pp. 97-128). SAGE Publications.
- Martin, L., Bliven, M., & Boisvert, R. (2008). Occupational performance, self-esteem, and quality of life in substance addictions recovery. *OTJR: Occupation, Participation and Health*, 28(2), 81-88. doi: 10.3928/15394492-20080301-05
- Martin, L. M., Smith, M., Rogers, J., Wallen, T., & Boisvert, R. (2011). Mothers in recovery: An occupational perspective. *Occupational Therapy International*, 18, 152-161.
 doi: 10.1002/oti.318
- Martin, L. M., Triscari, R., Boisvert, R., Hipp, K., Gersten, J., West, R. C., Kisling, E., Donham,
 A., Kollar, N., & Escobar, P. (2015). Development and evaluation of the Lifestyle
 History Questionnaire (LHQ) for people entering treatment for substance addictions.
 American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 69.
 http://dx.doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2015.014050
- Merriam-Webster (n.d.-a). *Sobriety*. In Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Retrieved April 22, 2020, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sobriety#synonyms
- Merriam-Webster (n.d.-b). *Sober*. In Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Retrieved April 22, 2020, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/sober
- Merriam-Webster (n.d.-c). *Metacognition*. In Merriam-Webster.com dictionary. Retrieved December 3, 2020, from https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/metacognition

- Mignon, S. I. (2015). Substance abuse treatment options, challenges, and effectiveness. (S. Drew & S. Peak Eds.). Springer Publishing Company, LLC.
- Mitchell, M. Dillon, A., Hallberg, L., LeBlanc, D., & Robnett, R. (2019, April 4-7). Navigating the role of OT in substance misuse through the Screening Brief Intervention, and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT) approach [Poster presentation]. 2019 AOTA Annual Conference and Expo, New Orleans, Louisiana, United States of America.
- Morris, D. M. & Jenkins, G. R. (2018). Preparing physical and occupational therapists to be health promotion practitioners: A call for action. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*. *15*(392), 1-12. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15020392
- National Center for Drug Abuse Statistics (2019). *Drug abuse statistics*. Retrieved from https://drugabusestatistics.org/
- National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism (2020, February). *Alcohol facts and statistics*. Retrieved from https://www.niaaa.nih.gov/publications/brochures-and-fact-sheets/alcohol-facts-and-statistics
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2018a, July). *The science of drug use and addiction: The basics*. Media Guide. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/media-guide/science-drug-use-addiction-basics
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2018b, January). *Behavioral therapies. Principles of Drug Addiction Treatment: A Research-Based Guide (Third Edition)*. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/principles-drug-addiction-treatment/evidence-based-approaches-to-drug-addiction-treatment/behavioral-therapies
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2019, January). *Treatment approaches for drug addiction*drugfacts. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/drugfacts/treatment-approaches-drug-addiction
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2003, October). What are the risk factors and protective factors: Preventing drug use among children and adolescents (in brief). Retrieved from

- https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/preventing-drug-abuse-among-children-adolescents/chapter-1-risk-factors-protective-factors/what-are-risk-factors
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2020a, March). *Overdose death rates*. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/related-topics/trends-statistics/overdose-death-rates
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2020b, February). *Trends & statistics*. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/related-topics/trends-statistics
- National Institute on Drug Abuse (2020c, June). *Health consequences of drug misuse*. Retrieved from https://www.drugabuse.gov/drug-topics/health-consequences-drug-misuse/introduction
- Nelson, D. L., & Jepson-Thomas, J. (2003). Occupational form, occupational performance, and a conceptual framework for therapeutic occupation. In P. Kramer, J. Hinojosa, & C.
 Brasic (Eds). Perspectives in human occupation: Participation in life (87-155).
 Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.
- Occupational Therapy Australia. (2016). *Occupational deprivation* [Position paper]. Retrieved form https://otaus.com.au/publicassets/5e5829df-2503-e911-a2c2-b75c2fd918c5/Occupational%20Deprivation%20(April%202016).pdf
- Pivont, E. & McCombie, R. (2020). Opioid substance abuse among clients of OTs in West Virginia. *The American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 74(1). doi: 10.5014/ajot.2020.74S1-PO2514
- Prochaska, J. O., & Di Clemente, C. O. (1982). Transtheoretical therapy: Toward a more integrative model of change. *Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice, 19(*3), 276-288. doi: 10.1037/h0088437
- Reitz, S. M. (2014). Health promotion theories. In B. A. Boyt Schell, G. Gillen, & M. E. Scaffa (Eds.), *Willard & Spackman's Occupational Therapy* (574-587). Lippincott Williams & Wilkins.

- Rodriguez-Cintas, L., Daigre, C., Grau-Lopez, L., Barral, C., Perez-Pazos, J., Voltes, N.,
 Braquehais, M. D., Casas, M., & Roncero, C. (2016). Impulsivity and addiction severity
 in cocaine and opioid dependent patients. *Addictive Behaviors*, 58, 104-109.
 doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2016.02.029
- Rojo-Mota, G., Pedrero-Perez, E. J., & Huertas-Hoyas, E. (2017a). Centennial Topics—

 Systematic review of occupational therapy in the treatment of addiction: Models,

 practice, and qualitative and quantitative research. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 71, 7105100030. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2017.022061
- Rojo-Mota, G., Pedrero-Perez, E. J., Ruiz-Sanchez De Leon, J. M., & Miangolarra Page, J. C. (2014). Assessment of motor and process skills in daily life activities of treated substance addicts. Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 21, 458-464. doi: 10.3109/11038128.2014.922610
- Rojo-Mota, G., Pedrero-Perez, E. J., Huertas-Hoyas, E., Merritt, B., & MacKenzie, D. (2017b).

 Allen Cognitive Level Screen for the classification of subjects treated for addiction.

 Scandinavian Journal of Occupational Therapy, 24(4), 290-298.

 http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/11038128.2016.1161071
- Rojo-Mota, G., Pedrero-Perez, E. J., Ruiz-Sanchez de Leon, J. M., Llanero-Luque, M., & Puerta-Garcia, C. (2013). Neurocognitive screening in substance addicts: the Montreal Cognitive Assessment. *Rev Neurol.*, *56*(3), 129-136. https://doi.org/10.33588/rn.5603.2012628
- Rowe, N. C., & Breeden, K. L. (2018). Opioid guidelines and their implications for occupational therapy. Retrieved from https://www.aota.org/~/media/Corporate/Files/Publications/CE-Articles/CE-Article-August-2018.pdf
- Sanchez-Camarero, C., Ortega-Santiago, R., Arias-Horcajadas, F., Madoz-Gurpide, A., Carlos-Miangolarra-Page, J.C., & Palacios-Cena, D. (2019). Altered fine motor control and manual dexterity in people with cocaine dependence: An observational study. *Australian Occupational Therapy Journal*, 66(3), 304-312. doi: 10.1111/1440-1630.12551

- Skewes, M. C. & Gonzalez, V. M. (2013). The biopsychosocial model of addiction. In P. M. Miller (Ed). *Principles of Addiction* (pp. 61-70). Academic Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/C2011-0-07778-5
- Stoffel, V. C (2013) Opportunities for occupational therapy behavioral health: A call to action.

 *American Journal of Occupational Therapy, 67(2), 140-145. doi: 10.5014/ajot.2013.672001
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2011, April 1). Screening, Brief

 Intervention and Referral to Treatment (SBIRT) in behavioral healthcare. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/sites/default/files/sbirtwhitepaper_0.pdf
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2014). *Projections of national*expenditures for treatment of mental and substance use disorders, 2010-2020. [PDF

 Report]. Retrieved from https://store.samhsa.gov/product/projections-nationalexpenditures-treatment-mental-and-substance-use-disorders-2010-2020
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2019, May 17). *Recovery and recovery support*. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/find-help/recovery
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2020a, April 27). *Laws and Regulations*. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/about-us/who-we-are/laws-regulations
- Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (2020b, April 21). *Behavioral health treatments and services*. Retrieved from https://www.samhsa.gov/find-help/treatment
- Sullivan, V., Macone, A., Lucey, J. R., & Erler, K. (2020, April 20). *An occupation-based*approach to treatment of substance use disorder: An interactive panel discussion [Virtual conference session]. AOTA 2020 Virtual Conference Series.

- Teherani, A., Martimianakis, T., Stenfors-Hayes, T., Wadhwa, A., & Varpio, L. (2015). Choosing a qualitative research approach. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education*, 7(4), 669–670. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-15-00414.1
- TEMI. (2020). Speech to text transcription in 5 minutes: Advanced speech recognition software [Online transcription software]. Retrieved from https://www.temi.com/
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2019, September 4). What is the U.S. opioid epidemic? Retrieved from https://www.hhs.gov/opioids/about-the-epidemic/index.html
- USASpending.gov (2019). FY 2019 spending by budget function. Retrieved from https://www.usaspending.gov/#/explorer/budget_function
- Velicer, W. F., Prochaska, J. O., Fava, J. L., Rossi, J. S., Redding, C. A., Laforge, R. G., & Robbins, M. L. (2000). Using the Transtheoretical Model for population-based approaches to health promotion and disease prevention. *Homeostasis in Health and Disease*, 40, 174-195. Retrieved from thttps://www.researchgate.net/publication/232503500_Using_the_Transtheoretical_Model_for_population-based_approaches_to_health_promotion_and_disease_prevention
- Wasmuth, S., Brandon-Friedman, R. A., & Olesek, K. (2016b). A grounded theory of veterans' experiences of addiction-as-occupation. *Journal of Occupational Science*, 23(1), 128-141. doi: 10.1080/14427591.2015.1070782
- Wasmuth, S., Crabtree, J., & Scott, P. (2014). Exploring addiction-as-occupation. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 77(12), 605-613. doi: 10.4276/030802214X14176260335264
- Wasmuth, S., Pritchard, K., & Kaneshiro, K. (2016a). Occupation-based intervention for addictive disorders: A systematic review. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, 62, 1-9. doi: 10.1016/j.jsat.2015.11.011
- Wasmuth, S. L., Outcalt, J., Buck, K., Leonhardt, B. L., Vohs, J., & Lysaker, P. H. (2015).

 Metacognition in persons with substance abuse: Findings and implications for

occupational therapists. *Canadian Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 82(3), 150-159. doi: 10.1177/0008417414564865

Whitesell, M., Bachand, A., Peel, J., & Brown, M. (2013). Familial, social, and individual factors contributing to risk for adolescent substance use. *Journal of Addiction*. 1-9.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/579310

Table 1Participant Characteristics

| Participant | Sex | Age | Employment Status | Primary Substance (s) |
|-------------|--------|-----|----------------------|----------------------------------|
| | | | | |
| E.B. | Male | 49 | Currently unemployed | Alcohol |
| K.S. | Male | 41 | Seasonally employed | Heroin/ Opiates |
| J.F. | Female | 32 | Employed Part-time | Alcohol, Cocaine, Heroin |
| M.G. | Male | 23 | Employed Part-time | Unknown |
| A.H. | Female | 47 | Currently unemployed | Alcohol, Cocaine, Heroin/Opiates |

^{*}Note: All participant characteristics are based on self-reports during initial interviews.

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. Tell me about yourself.
 - a. Are you currently working or in school?
 - i. If so, can you tell me about some of the jobs you have held in the past or jobs that you may currently be doing.
 - ii. If so, can you tell me about your studies?
 - b. Are you responsible for the care of children, a partner, or another individual in your life? Can you tell me about that?
 - i. How well do you feel you handle the responsibilities associated with your current jobs/studies/family life? Can you give me some examples?
 - ii. Has your ability to handle your responsibilities related to work/studies/family changed over time? If so, how? Can you give me an example?
- 2. Is there anything else that you do in your life that takes up a lot of your time and energy How important is this to you? Why or why not?
- 3. Describe your ability to complete these activities?
- 4. How would you describe your friendships? Can you give me an example?
- 5. How satisfied are you with your social network? Why or why not?
- 6. Tell me about your home/living situation.
 - a. Do you live with anyone?
 - b. How satisfied are you with your home/living situation? Why/why not?
 - c. What kind of responsibilities do you have within your home?
 - d. How satisfied are you with your ability to complete your responsibilities at home? Why/why not?
 - e. Does your living situation support your ability to do your day-to-day activities? Why or why not? Can you give me an example?
- 7. Tell me about what a typical day looks like for you? or Can you describe a typical day. What do you do on a day-to-day basis?
 - a. Are weekends any different from weekdays? Give me an example?
 - b. Can you describe what a good day is for you?
 - i. What makes it good day for you?
 - c. Can you describe what a bad day for you would be?
 - i. What makes it a bad day for you?
 - d. Are you satisfied with your current daily routine? Why/why not?

- e. What are the most important things in your daily routine?
- f. Are you able to complete the things that are most important to you? Why or why not?
- g. Is there anything that you would like to change about your current routine? Why/why not?
- 8. Tell me about some of the activities you engage in (hobbies, projects?)
 - a. Do you enjoy these activities? What is it about these activities that you enjoy?
 - b. Are you able complete these activities as often as you would like? Why or why not?
 - c. Are there things you would like to do that you currently aren't able to? What is about these activities that makes you want to do them? How come you currently are not able to do them? Can you give me an example?
- 9. Do you get to do the things that are really important to you?
 - a. If yes: What are some of the things that are really important to you?
 - b. If No: Can you tell me about those things you don't get to do? What are things you can't do? Why do you feel you can't do them?
- 10. Is there anything that interferes with the things you want to do?
 - a. Do you feel substance use impacts any of the activities you need to, want, or would like to engage in? If yes, please explain and provide examples.
- 11. Tell me about the services you are currently receiving for your substance abuse. What are your experiences related to these services?
- 12. How satisfied are you with the services that you are receiving? Please explain.
 - a. Do you feel that the current services you are receiving, address all your needs?
 - i. In what way does your current services meet/not meet your needs? Can you provide examples?
- 13. Is there any other information you would like to share?

Example of follow up interview questions during the second interview:

I would like to review the information that you shared with me during out last interview. Based on our conversation, it is my understanding that... does that sound correct?

- 1. Now that you have had time to reflect on our last interview, based on your responses at that time is there any additional information that you thought of that you feel would be important for me to know?
- 2. Has there been any change to the information you provided? If so, please describe.
- 3. Is there any other information you would like to share with me at this time?

Appendix B: IRB Approval Letter

Ithaca College ікв

Approval Notification

To: Roshni Patel From: Warren Calderone Subject: Protocol #85 Date: 11/26/2019



Re: [IRBID]Individuals with Substance Abuse: Perceptions of Daily Life and Behavioral Therapy Services

Thank you for submitting your proposal to the Institutional Review Board for Human Subjects Research (IRB). You are authorized to begin your project. This approval is issued under the Ithaca College's OHRP Federal-wide Assurance #00004870 and will remain in effect for a period of one year from the date of authorization.

Please add the IRB approval number (IRB [IRBID]) to ALL recruitment and consent materials.

The approval of your study is valid through 11/25/2020, by which time you must submit an annual report either closing the protocol or requesting permission to continue the protocol for another year. Please submit your report by 10/28/2020 so that the IRB has time to review and approve your report if you wish to continue it for another year. The project can be extended up to three years.

Please note that if there are any adverse events resulting from this research, they must be submitted through Axiom.

Sincerely

Warren Calderone

Director of Corporate, Foundation Relations, and Sponsored Research Institutional Review Board for Human Subjects Research

953 Danby Road, Ithaca, NY 14850, (607) 274-1206 www.ithaca.edu/sponsored-research

Warren J. Caldwork

ithaca.edu

Appendix C: Site Approval Letter



Dear Vice President of Clinical Operations)

I am a graduate student in the occupational therapy department at Ithaca College, Ithaca, NY and am completing my individual thesis as part of the requirement for my Master of Occupational Therapy. As we discussed previously, I am conducting a research study on the perceptions of individuals with substance abuse who are currently receiving individual or group treatment about their daily lives and their experiences with substance abuse services. The purpose of my study is to learn more about the potential role for occupational therapy when working with individuals with substance abuse disorders.

Nature of the Study:

For this study, I am looking to recruit 4 to 5 individuals to participate in 2 semi-structured nonconsecutive interviews for a total interview time of approximately 1 hour. The first interview would be approximately 45 minutes in length. The second interview will be approximately 15-20 minutes in length used to ensure the information obtained in the first interview is accurate and to allow the participants an opportunity to fill in any information that may be missing. Interview questions will address participants' perceptions of their daily life, the impact that their drug use may have on their daily life, and current substance abuse services.

Recruitment

The inclusion criteria for participation in my study is: 1. ages 18 and 65 years 2. Individuals must have been receiving a form of psychotherapy or group therapy for substance use in the last 6 months of treatment. 3. No current status of homelessness or incarceration. 4. Must have a primary clinical diagnosis of a substance abuse disorder. 5. No history of self-harm or harm of others. 6. No existing diagnosis of severe mental illness. As we previously discussed, I am asking for assistance in disseminating the invitation to participate in this study to individuals who are receiving services at your facility. The invitation will include my name and contact information so that if someone is interested in participating in this study, they can reach out to me directly. Additionally, I will plan to have blank copies of informed consent forms at the front desk at designated contact income for individuals interested in the study, to sign. Please note that the employees will not be a part of the study, nor will they be required to carry out any tasks related to the study.

Location

To provide familiarity of location for the participants, and to ensure privacy of information, I would like to complete the interviews in person at locations in a closed office setting during regular business hours. If there is a scheduling conflict between researcher and participant, the interviews would, alternatively, be conducted by telephone or video conference.

Please sign below indicating that you affirm the following:

- a) Understand the purpose/nature of this study and,
- b) Understand and agree to disseminate the invitation to participate in the study to individuals who are currently receiving services at and
- Understand and agree that the researcher may conduct the interviews on site at the designated locations.

Please sign your name below.

Vice President of Clinical Operations

Roshni Patel

Occupational Therapy Student Researcher

953 Danby Road • Ithaca, NY 14850 • (607) 274-1975 • (607) 274-3055 fax

ithaca.edu

Appendix D: Email/Phone Recruitment Statements

Email to Supervisor of Addiction Recovery Program:

Hi [Name of Clinical Site Supervisor]

I am asking for assistance in disseminating the following information about the study as an invitation to participate to individuals who are receiving services at your facility. The information to disseminate is attached.

Thank you again for the opportunity.

Sincerely,

Roshni Patel Master's in Occupational Therapy Student Ithaca College Ithaca, NY

(Recruitment statement)

Hello,

I am conducting a research study about the experiences of people with substance abuse disorders who are currently receiving individual or group therapy.

I am looking for 4 to 5 people to participate in 2 interviews for a total time of about 1 hour. The first interview will be about 45 minutes long. The second interview will be about 15-20 minutes long

To participate you must meet the following:

- 1. Be between 18 and 65 years old
- 2. Have a diagnosis of a substance abuse disorder.
- 3. Be receiving psychotherapy or group therapy for substance use in the last 6 months
- 4. Are currently not homeless or in prison.
- 5. Not have a history of self-harm or harm of others.
- 6. Not have a diagnosis of severe mental illness.

During the interview, I will ask you questions related to your daily life such as taking care of yourself, taking care of your home, work, family, social life, involvement in the community, how drug use may affect your daily life, and your current substance abuse services.

People who participate in the full study will be given a 25-dollar visa gift card (15\$ visa gift card for the first interview; and 10\$ visa gift card for the second interview). You will receive gift cards for the study whether you complete both interview or not.

You may refuse to answer any questions or stop the interview at any time without consequences. Any information provided in the interview will be confidential between the researcher and the faculty advisor.

If you want to participate you will have to sign an <u>Informed Consent Form</u>. The informed consent form is a form explaining the study in more detail and is needed so that it is in writing that we have your permission to participate in the study.

There will be informed consent forms at the front desk of either [Location Name]. You may come in to either one of the locations and sign a form if you are interested. After signing, place the form in the pre-stamped envelope provided and return through the US Mail. If not signed, we can't schedule the interview.

If you want informed consent forms emailed to you or have any other questions, please contact me at the number or email below.

My Name: Roshni Patel

Email Address: Phone Number:

Appendix E: Informed Consent

Title of Study: Individuals with Substance Abuse: Perceptions of Daily Life and Behavioral Therapy Services.

Principal Investigator: Roshni Patel, OTS. Ithaca College.

Faculty Advisor Shannon L. Scott, OTD OTR/L. Assistant Professor Ithaca College

Invitation to Participate in a Research Study

You are invited to participate in a research study consisting of 2 interviews, conducted by the principal researcher: Roshni Patel, to learn about experiences related to your day-to-day activities, the impact that your substance abuse disorder may have on these activities and your views about the services you are currently getting for your substance abuse. To participate you must:

- 1. Be between 18 and 65 years old
- 2. Have a diagnosis of a substance abuse disorder.
- 3. Be receiving psychotherapy or group therapy for substance use in the last 6 months
- 4. Are currently not homeless or in prison.
- 5. Not have a history of self-harm or harm of others.
- 6. Not have a diagnosis of severe mental illness.

Participating in this study is voluntary and you may stop at any time with no consequences.

Important Information about this Research Study

Purpose of the study: To learn about your daily life such as how you take care of yourself, take care of your home, work, family, participating socially, involvement in the community, how drug use may affect your daily life, and your current substance abuse services. The information provided in this study may help us learn more about occupational therapy services for people diagnosed with a substance abuse disorder.

If you choose to participate, you will be asked to sign this consent form, and schedule appointments for two face to face interviews taking place at either [Location Names]. If face to face interviews are more difficult to do, phone and/or video interviews may be arranged.

You will be provided with a 15-dollar visa gift card for participating in the first interview and a 10-dollar visa gift card for participating in the second interview for a total of 25 dollars. The total time for participating is approximately 1 hour.

Potential Risks and discomforts associated with this research

Reflecting on your personal experiences related to drug use, health issues, family/social relationships, employment

status, home care, and quality of life may contribute to emotional stress.

Direct benefits to the participants

There is no direct benefit to your participation in this study. But thinking about your everyday tasks and drug use may help you find areas for change or growth.

Please read this entire form and ask questions before deciding whether you would like to participate in this research study.

1. Purpose of the Study

Substance abuse can cause challenges in everyday tasks like social life, work, and managing your finances. Drug addiction may result in loss of employment, stable housing, and social supports. Occupational therapy (OT) can help support long-term recovery by looking at roles, habits, routines, and providing people with information to help them restructure their lives to be more meaningful and fulfilling. The purpose of this research is to learn about the first-hand experience of people with substance abuse disorders.

2. Benefits of the Study

There is no direct benefit to you by participating in this study. But you may benefit from the conversation, and from reflecting on areas of strength and needs with everyday activities. This study will benefit the researcher because it will meet requirements to graduate. The study may benefit the research community to learn more about the study topic.

3. What You Will Be Asked to Do

You will be asked to sign an informed consent form and participate in two interviews. The first interview will be about 45 minutes. The second interview will be about 15 minutes. During the interview you will be asked to answer questions related to your daily life, community involvement, and opinions related to your current participation in psychotherapy/group therapy.

You are unable to participate in this study if:

- 1. You are below the age of 18 and over the age 65.
- 2. You have been in psychotherapy or group therapy for substance abuse less than 6 month
- 3. You are currently homeless or in prison
- 4. You have a history of self-harm or harm of others.
- 5. You have a severe mental illness.

4. Withdrawal from the Study

If you feel you no longer wish to participate in this study, you may stop at any moment. During participation in this study, you may refuse to answer questions if you wish, without question. If you stop participating or refuse to answer questions during the interview process, you will still be provided with the gift card total fixed for each interview. The researcher will proceed in examining the information you provide willingly.

5. Risks

Because the study is asking you to think about personal strengths and weakness, drug use, health issues, family/social relationships, employment status, home care, and quality of life, there may be a risk if you participate. If you feel discomfort, or emotional stress during any part of participating in this study, please inform the researcher immediately. After participating in the study, if you feel any discomfort, emotional stress, thoughts of suicide, self-harm, or harm of others, please seek advice from your therapist or physician. Below are free resources to assist you if required:

- 1. National Suicide Prevention Hotline Phone Number: 1-800-273-8255
- 2. [First hospital name, address, phone number]
- 3. [Second hospital name, address, phone number]

6. How the Data will be Maintained in Confidence

Please be aware, any information you provide during the interview will be confidential. Any identifying information such as your name, gender, will not be included in the study project.

Your participation in the study will only be known to the primary researcher (Roshni). Any papers and recordings associated with the study will be kept in a locked cabinet and password-protected computer and then destroyed after 3 years. Access to records related to the study will only be available to the primary researcher and faculty advisor.

Use of information beyond this study

Identifying information may be removed and used for future research without additional informed consent from the participant.

7. Compensation for Injury

While this study will have minimal risk to you, if you suffer an injury that requires any treatment or hospitalization because of the study, the cost for such care will be charged to you. If you have insurance, you may bill your insurance company. You will be responsible to pay all costs not covered by your insurance. Ithaca College will not pay for any care, lost wages, or provide other financial compensation.

8. If You Would Like More Information about the Study

Prior to, during, and after completion of this study, if you would like to learn more please feel free to contact the researcher: Roshni Patel [email] or my Faculty Advisor Shannon L. Scott [email] You may also contact the IRB below if you have any further questions or concerns with the information provided below:

Ithaca College IRB
Peggy Ryan Williams Center
953 Danby Road
Ithaca, NY 14850
irb@ithaca.edu
(607) 274-3113

| acknowledge that I am 18 years of age or older, and | d I meet the inclusion criteria of this study |
|---|---|
| Print or Type Name | |
| Signature | Date |
| I give my permission to be audiotaped. | |
| Signature | Date |

I have read the above and I understand its contents. I agree to participate in the study. I